

LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY WITH SOME APPLICATIONS

RONAK BAGELANY

DECEMBER 2015

LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY WITH SOME APPLICATIONS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF ÇANKAYA UNIVERSITY

BY RONAK BAGELANY

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

THE DEPARTMENT OF

MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE

DECEMBER 2015

Title of the Thesis: Lyapunov Stability Theory with Some Applications.

Submitted by Ronak BAGELANY

Approval of the Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Çankaya University.

Prof. Dr. Halil Tanyer EYYUBOĞLU Director

I certify that this thesis satisfies all the requirements as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

Prof. Dr. Billur KAYMAKÇALAN Head of Department

This is to certify that we have read this thesis and that in our opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

Pan 6

Assist. Prof. Dr. Dumitru BALEANU Supervisor

Examination Date: 21.12.2015

Examining Committee Members

Assist. Prof. Dr. Dumitru BALEANU

(Çankaya Univ.)

(Çankaya Univ.)

Billin

Prof. Dr. Billur KAYMAKÇALAN

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fahd JARAD

(THK Univ.)

STATEMENT OF NON-PLAGIARISM PAGE

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last Name

Signature

Date

: Ronak, BAGELANY

: 21.12.2015

ABSTRACT

LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY WITH SOME APPLICATIONS

BAGELANY, Ronak

M.Sc., Department of Mathematics and Computer Science Supervisor: Assist. Prof. Dr. Dumitru BALEANU

December 2015, 64 pages

In this thesis, a detailed overview of Lyapunov stability theorems of linear and nonlinear systems is presented. The Lyapunov first and second methods are investigated and the stability analysis of fractional differential systems is highlighted. A new Lemma for the Caputo fractional derivative is reviewed and a class of fractional-order gene regulatory networks is investigated. Besides the stabilization of continuous-time fractional for positive linear systems is reviewed. An elementary Lemma which estimates the fractional derivatives of Volterra-type Lyapunov functions is also put forward, in order to see how it can satisfy the uniform asymptotic stability of Caputo-type epidemic systems.

Keywords: Lyapunov stability, linear and nonlinear systems, Lyapunov function, Lyapunov equation, Riemann-Liouville derivative, Caputo derivative, Mittag-Leffler function.

BAZI UYGULAMALARIYLA LYAPUNOV KARARLILIK TEORİSİ

BAGELANY, Ronak

Yüksek Lisans, Matematik-Bilgisayar Anabilim Dalı Tez Yöneticisi: Yrd. Doç. Dr. Dumitru BALEANU

Aralık 2015, 64 sayfa

Bu tezde, doğrusal ve doğrusal olmayan sistemlerin Lyapunov kararlılık teoremleri detaylı bir şekilde gözden gecirilmistir. Birinci ve ikinci Lyapunov metodları incelenmis ve kesirli türevli sistemler için kararlılık analizi vurgulanmıştır. Caputo kesirli türevi için yeni bir Lemma gözden geçirilmiş ve kesirli dereceli gen düzenleyici ağların bir sınıfı incelenmiştir. Ayrıca pozitif doğrusal sistemler için sürekli zaman kesirlerin stabilizasyonu gözden geçirilmiştir. Caputo tipi epidemik sistemlerin düzgün asimptotik kararlılığı nasıl sağladığını görmek için, Volterra-tipi Lyapunov fonksiyonların kesirli türevlerini kestiren bir temel Lemma gözden geçirilmiştir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Lyapunov kararlılık, doğrusal ve doğrusal olmayan sistemler, Lyapunov fonksiyonu, Lyapunov denklemi, Riemann-Liouville türevi, Caputo türevi, Mittag-Leffler fonksiyonu.

ÖZ

DEDICATION

To the soul of my mother, that I'm missing her

To the soul of my sister, who has been credited to my joining to the school.

To my dear father, who did not make me feel for my mother's absence.

To my brothers and sisters, who supported and encouraged me.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude in the completion of this research to my supervisor Assist. Prof. Dr. Dumitru BALEANU for his special guidance, suggestions, support and encouragement during the period of preparing my thesis. I am indebted for his suggestions and valuable remarks and allocating me a lot of time. His patience and willingness to guide me to this level will never be forgotten.

Special thanks to Prof. Dr. Billur KAYMAKÇALAN, the Head of the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science. She offers me all the requirements to facilitate in carrying out this work. I take this opportunity to express my admiration for her excellence, unassuming on a personal level and good management of the department.

Also, I want to express my thanks to all the academic staff of Çankaya University for giving me all I have needed for the study requirements.

I do not forget to thank all the academic staff of Kirkuk University, especially the University president for their encouragement throughout the period of my stay in Ankara.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends Sedat, Nadia, Imad, Deemen and Dalia, as well as my sister Amirra for their encouragement throughout this period.

My God bestows health and happiness to all of them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF NON PLAGIARISM	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ÖZ	v
DEDICATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF SYMBOLS	х

CHAPTERS:

1.	INTR	TRODUCTION 1				
2.	PRELIMINARIES 4					
	2.1. Definitions		4			
	2.2. Comparison functions					
	2.3 Matrices and vector norms		6			
3.	LYAF	PUNOV STABILITY THEORY OF CONTINUOUS TIME				
	SYSTEMS					
	3.1. Lyapunov function					
	3.2.	Sign definite functions				
	3.3.	Definitions of stability				
	3.4.	Lyapunov direct method				
	3.5. Phase plane diagrams for linear systems					
		3.5.1. Classification of stability	20			
		3.5.2. Classification of the eigenvalues in cases	21			
	3.6. Analysis of linear time-invariant systems					
	3.7.	3.7. Lyapunov indirect method				
	3.8. Instability theorems					

4.	LYAPUNOV STABILITY FOR DISCRETE TIME SYSTEMS			
4.1. Nonlinear systems			27	
4.2. Linear systems		Linear systems	28	
5. STABILITY ANALYSIS OF FRACTIONAL ORDER SYSTEMS			31	
5.1. Preliminaries				
5.2. Stability analysis by Caputo fractional system				
5.3. Stability analysis by Riemann–Liouville fractional systems				
5.4. Stability analysis of Bihari's and Bellman-Grönwall's inequality		36		
5.5. Mittag-Leffler stability			41	
	5.6.	Lyapunov – Krasovskii stability theory with time-delay	43	
		5.6.1. Nonlinear time-delay systems	43	
		5.6.2. Lyapunov- Krasovskii stability theorem	45	
6.	APPL	ICATIONS OF LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY	48	
6.1. Finding the		Finding the Lyapunov candidate	48	
	6.2. Fractional-order gene regulatory networks		50	
	6.3. Stabilization for continuous-time fractional systems			
	6.4.	The epidemic systems	57	
7.	7. CONCLUSION			
REFERENCES R			R1	
APPENDICES A				
A CURRICULUM VITAE A1				

LIST OF SYMBOLS

Ν	The set of the natural numbers $\{1, 2, 3,\}$
R	The set of real numbers
R^n	The vector space of the real vectors of length n
$R_{+} = [0, +\infty) \subset R$	The set of all non-negative numbers
$R \times R^n$	The Cartesian product of R and R^n
$R^{n imes m}$	The set of the real $(n \times m)$ matrices
Ζ	Set if integers
\overline{Z}_{+}	Set of non-negative
Z_+	Positive
$x(t,t_0x_0)$	A motion of a syste at $t \in R$ iff $x(t_0 = x_0)$
A^{T}	The transpose of the matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$
	The Euclidean norm of x in R^n
$\ A\ $	$= \max \{ \ Ax\ : \ x\ = 1 \}$, the induced norm of the matrix
	$A \in R^{n \times m}$
$\lambda_i(.)$	The <i>ith</i> eigenvalue of a matrix (.)
$\lambda_{\max}\left(. ight),\lambda_{\min}\left(. ight)$	(Maximal, minimal) eigenvalues of a matrix (.)
$B_{\varepsilon} = \left\{ x \in R^n : \left\ x \right\ < \varepsilon \right\}$	Open ball with center at the origin and radius $\varepsilon > 0$
$f: S \to R$	A vector function mapping from domain $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ in to \mathbb{R}^n

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Stability is one of the most important subjects in Mathematics and Engineering. It has an essential role in the system theory as well as in the engineering systems. There are many kinds of stability problems which appear through the study of the dynamic systems, for instance, the stability of equilibrium points, Lyapunov stability, finite time stability, practical stability, technical stability, stability of the periodic orbits and input-output stability [1,2,3].

In 1892, in his doctoral thesis entitled "A general task about the stability of motion", a Russian academician, Aleksandr Mikhailovich Lyapunov established the modern stability theory. More than 100 years later this technique helps us to achieve the stability analysis of the equilibrium points or states in any dynamic nonlinear or linear systems [4-10]. Lyapunov not only gave a formal statement of the problem but also proposed the methods serving as the key instruments for treating the stability problems even today, Primarily developed for a family of motions and defined for ordinary differential equations [11,12]. Nowadays Lyapunov stability concept for continuous and discrete time were applied to dynamical systems in more abstract spaces and even to the general motions which are not described by the equations studied in classical analysis [13-18]. Therefore, Lyapunov concepts were adopted to achieve more complicated phenomena in the behavior of dynamical systems such as bifurcation and chaos theory [19,20,21]. The techniques of Lyapunov have been successfully applied in many areas such as examining motion in space, technological devices, automated systems, problems in mechanics, demography, biomedical problems, environmental studies, behavioral science and economics and other fields. Lyapunov concepts of stability are widely used in the other states of equations such that integrals, functional differential equations, nonlinear parabolic equations, difference equations, discrete dynamical systems, fractional calculus and in the fractional dynamic systems [22,23].

Lyapunov methods are classified as the Lyapunov indirect or first method and Lyapunov direct or second method. Lyapunov indirect method gives conditions from a nonlinear system to achieve the local stability near any equilibrium point. Lyapunov direct method is a mathematical directness of the physical properties and the most important method for the analysis of the nonlinear systems and it can be directly applied to a nonlinear system without the need of linearization or solve the system and achieve the global stability. The concept of direct method is if a total energy in a system disappeared, then, the states of this system will reach to the equilibrium point [24,25,26]. In other words, the basic idea behind this method is that if there is a kind of scalar such as energy function and test this (energy) diminishes along the trajectory of the system, then we can determine whether the system is stable or not. Today, Lyapunov linearization method is used to show the theoretical justification of linear system and Lyapunov direct method has become one of the most important methods for nonlinear system analysis [27-31]. By the same methods the stability criteria can be obtained for the discrete-time systems [32,33].

I reviewed in this thesis some basic concepts of the fractional calculus in order to analyze the stability of the nonlinear systems [34,35,36]. The concept of fractional calculus has been known during the stages of the development of the classical calculus founded by Leibnitz and L'Hopital in 1695, when they mentioned half-order derivative [37-42].

The applications of fractional calculus by using Lyapunov methods are very wide nowadays in various branches of applied sciences as well as in engineering, namely, signal and image processing, physics, biology, control theory, chemistry and economics [43-57].

In the last decades, Lyapunov direct method has been a popular technique to study the stability properties of the mathematical models, in which this method is applied in several areas e.g. biological and biomedical science [58-70].

The aim of this thesis is to present a comprehensive review of the uses of Lyapunov theorems and methods for the continuous and discrete time analysis systems in order to achieve the stability properties. On the other hand we have used the fractional calculus to analyze the stability of nonlinear or linear systems. In the applications part of the thesis we presented a new Lemma for the Caputo fractional derivative, a class of fractional-order gene regulatory networks, the stabilization of continuoustime fractional for positive linear systems, an elementary Lemma which estimates the fractional derivatives of Volterra-type Lyapunov functions and the uniform asymptotic stability of Caputo-type epidemic systems.

This thesis contains seven chapters.

Chapter 1 deals with the concept of stability, Lyapunov theorems together with the methods of stability of nonlinear and linear systems as well as their applications in different fields.

Chapter 2 includes some preliminaries and definitions utilized in this thesis.

Chapter 3 introduces the analysis of stability in the sense of Lyapunov by presenting the basic definitions of the direct and indirect methods to determine the stability. We present the way how to construct the Lyapunov function and explaine the Lyapunov theorems to obtain the local or global stability, asymptotic stability or instability for the systems.

In Chapter 4 the Lyapunov stability theorems for discrete time systems are investigated.

Chapter 5 presents the stability analysis of fractional systems by using Caputo and Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives, Bihari's and Bellman-Grönwall's inequality, Mittag-Lefler stability and Lyapunov –Krasovskii theorem are also reviewed.

Chapter 6 deals with four new and interesting applications of Lyapunov stability theorems.

Chapter 7 presents the conclusion part.

CHAPTER 2

PRELIMINARIES

2.1 Definitions

Definition 1[8]: A system of the first order of ordinary deferential equation is defined as:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = \dot{x}_1 = g_1(t, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n),
\frac{dx_1}{dt} = \dot{x}_2 = g_2(t, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n),
\vdots
\frac{dx_n}{dt} = \dot{x}_n = g_n(t, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n),$$
(2.1)

where $g_1, g_2, ..., g_n$ are real valued continuous function on an interval *I*.

Definition 2 [14]: The system (2.1) is called time-invariant or autonomous system if g does not depend on time t, this nonlinear system can be written as

$$\dot{x} = g(x) \,. \tag{2.2}$$

If the function g depends explicitly of t then, the system (2.1) is written as

$$\dot{x} = g(t, x) \,. \tag{2.3}$$

This system is called non-autonomous system.

Definition 3 [9]: A differentiable mapping of g of an open set of $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ to \mathbb{R}^m is said to be continuous differentiable in S if g' is such that $||g'(x_2) - g'(x_1)|| < \varepsilon$ provided that $x_1, x_2 \in S$ and $||x_2 - x_1|| < \delta$.

Definition 4 [9]: A set of V in the plane is a neighborhood of a point c if a small disk around c is contained in V.

Definition 5 [9]: A set of $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is named as bounded set if there is a real number L > 0 leads to ||x|| < L, $\forall x \in S$.

Definition 6 [9]: Let $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ be a square constant matrix, a scalar $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ is said to be an eigenvalue and x is a nonzero vector called eigenvector of B associated with λ , if $Bx = \lambda x$.

Definition 7 [9]: A function of $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is said a locally Lipschitz on *S* if every point of *S* has a neighborhood $S_0 \subset S$ in *g* with domain S_1 which satisfies

$$\|g(x_1) - g(x_2)\| \le L \|x_1 - x_2\|, \qquad (2.4)$$

it is called as Lipschitz on an open set $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ if it achieves (2.4) for all $x_1, x_2 \in S$ with the Lipschitz constant *L*. It says to be globally Lipschitz if the condition (2.4) holds on \mathbb{R}^n .

Definition 8 [8]: x^* is said to be the equilibrium point of (2.3), with $x(t_0) = x_0$ if $g(t, x^*) = 0$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Definition 9 [8]: If g(t, x) is the trajectories of (2.2) with initial condition x at t = 0, the region of attraction to the equilibrium point x^* denoted R_a , is defined by

$$R_a = \{x \in S, S \subset R^2, g(t, x) \to x^* \text{ as } t \to \infty\}.$$

Definition 10 [8]: A square real matrix *A* is called Hurwitz if all eigenvalues of *A* have negative real part.

Definition 11 [10]: A family of phase plane trajectories corresponding to various initial conditions is called a phase portrait of (2.3).

Definition 12 [10]: A matrix A is called a Schur matrix if $(\max_i |\lambda_i(A)| < 1)$.

2.2 Comparison functions

In this subsection, we introduce a new class of functions named class (\mathcal{K}) and (\mathcal{KL}) [8].

Definition 13 [10]: A continuous function $\sigma: [0, a) \to R^+$ is said to belong to class \mathcal{K} if

- i) $\sigma(0) = 0$,
- ii) it is strictly increasing.

Definition 14 [10]: A continuous function $\sigma: R^+ \to R^+$ is said to belong to class \mathcal{K}_{∞} if it is achieved in addition to (i),(ii) condition $\sigma(l) \to \infty$ as $l \to \infty$.

Definition 15 [10]: A continuous function $\sigma: R^+ \to R^+$ is belongs to a class \mathcal{L} if i) it is strictly decreasing,

ii) $\sigma(l) \to 0$ when $l \to \infty$

Definition 16 [10]: A continuous function $\sigma: [0, a] \times R^+ \to R^+$ is belongs to a class \mathcal{KL} if:

i) for each fixed s, the mapping $\sigma(l,s)$ belongs to a class \mathcal{K} according to l.

ii) for each fixed l, the mapping $\sigma(l, s)$ is decreasing according to s.

iii) $\sigma(l,s) \to 0$ as $s \to \infty$.

2.3 Matrices and vector norms

Definition 17 [21]: A vector norm on \mathbb{R}^n is a function $\|.\|$, from $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with the characteristics

- i) $||s|| \ge 0 \quad \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and ||s|| = 0 if and only if s = 0
- ii) $||as|| = |a|||s|| \quad \forall a \in R \text{ and } s \in R^n$
- iii) $||s+k|| \le ||s|| + ||k|| \quad \forall s, k \in \mathbb{R}^n$

Definition 18 [21]: The definition of the Euclidean norm l_2 and the infinity norm l_{∞} for the vector $s = (s_1, s_2, ..., s_n)^T$ is

$$\|s\|_{2} = \left\{\sum_{i=1}^{n} s_{i}^{2}\right\}^{1/2}, \|s\|_{\infty} = \max_{1 \le i \le n} |s_{i}|.$$

Definition 19 [21]: A matrix norm is a real valued function from $R^{n \times n}$ to R. Let $K \in R^{n \times n}$ be a matrix, its norm is symbolize by ||K|| which satisfies a certain number of properties

- i) $||K|| \ge 0$ For all $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ and ||K|| = 0 if and only if K = 0,
- ii) ||aK|| = |a|||K|| For any scalar *a* and $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$,
- iii) $\|K + L\| \le \|K\| + \|L\|$ for all $K, L \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$,
- iv) $\|KL\| \leq \|K\| \|L\|$ For all $K, L \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$.

Definition 20 [21]: If ||.|| is a vector norm, the induced matrix norm is given by

$$||K|| = \max_{\|s\|=1} ||Ks|| = \max_{s\neq 0} \frac{||Ks||}{||s||}.$$

CHAPTER 3

LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY OF CONTINUOUS TIME SYSTEMS

There is a simple definition of Lyapunov stability of systems, stating that if the solutions starting around an equilibrium point stay there forever, we can say that the equilibrium point is Lyapunov stable. If the equilibrium point is Lyapunov stable and all the solutions that starting near the equilibrium point converge to it, we say that this equilibrium point is asymptotically stable [9].

Lyapunov work includes two methods for stability analysis Lyapunov direct and indirect methods.

3.1 Lyapunov function

Lyapunov function is a stronger and robust method to determine the stability or instability in any equilibrium of nonlinear systems. Lyapunov function means that if we select a positive function V(.) and take its derivative \dot{V} which should be *negative definite* or *negative semi definite*. Then we can say that V is a Lyapunov candidate function [8,9].

Definition 1 [8]: Suppose $V: S \to R$ be a continuously differentiable function defined in a domain $S \subset R^n$ and contains the origin, then the derivative of V along the trajectories of (2.2) is denoted by $\dot{V}(x)$, such that

$$\frac{d}{dt}V(x(t)) = \nabla V(x(t)).\dot{x}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_{i}}(x(t))\dot{x}_{j}(t).$$
(3.1)

$$\dot{V}(x) = \left[\frac{\partial V}{\partial x_1}, \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_2}, \dots, \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_n}\right] \begin{bmatrix} g_1(x) \\ \vdots \\ g_n(x) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.2)

3.2 Sign definite functions

We now introduce the notion of *positive definite* functions and the conditions required for the function V(x). In the following *S* denotes for a connected and open subset of $R^{n}[9]$.

Definition 2 [9]: A scalar function $V: S \rightarrow R$ is named as *positive semi definite* for *S* when achieves the following conditions

- a) V(0) = 0,
- b) $V(x) \ge 0$, $\forall x \text{ in } S \{0\}$.

If we replace the condition (b) with (V(x) > 0 in $S - \{0\}$), then, $V : S \rightarrow R$ is said to be *positive definite* in *S*.

Definition 3 [9]: A scalar function $V: S \rightarrow R$ is named as *negative semi definite* in *S* if it is achieved

- a) V(0) = 0,
- b) $V(x) \leq 0$.

If we replace the condition (b) with (V(x) < 0 in $S - \{0\}$), then, $V: S \to R$ is called *negative definite* in S.

3.3 Definitions of stability

Let us consider [9]

$$\dot{x} = g(x), \qquad (3.3)$$

with $g: S \to R^n$ be a locally Lipschitz map in $S \subset R^n$. Let as assume that $x_e \in S$ is the equilibrium point of (3.3), thus $g(x_e) = 0$. Our aim is to study the stability of x_e , therefore, we state all the definitions and theorems for the case when the equilibrium points are in the origin, meaning that $x_e = 0$

Definition 4 [10]: The system (3.3), when x = 0, is called Lyapunov stable, if $\varepsilon > 0$, and $\sigma = \sigma(\varepsilon) > 0$ then

$$|x(0)|| < \sigma$$
, and $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$, $t \ge 0$. (3.4)

Definition 5 [10]: The equilibrium point x = 0 of the system (3.3) is called asymptotically stable if it is Lyapunov stable and there is a $\sigma > 0$ such that

$$||x(0)|| < \sigma$$
, and $\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) = 0$. (3.5)

Definition 6 [10]: The equilibrium point x = 0 of the system (3.3) is called a locally exponentially stable if there are positive real constants μ , λ as well as σ , such that $||x(0)|| < \sigma$ then

$$\|x(t)\| \le \mu \|x(0)\| e^{-\lambda t}, t \ge 0.$$
 (3.6)

Definition 7 [10]: The equilibrium point x = 0 of the system (3.3) is called a globally exponentially stable, if we have positive real constants μ , λ achieved

$$||x(t)|| \le \mu ||x(0)|| e^{-\lambda t}, \ t \ge 0. \quad \forall x(0) \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (3.7)

Definition 8 [10]: The system (3.3), with x = 0 is unstable, if it is not Lyapunov stable.

Definition 9[8]: Suppose $V: S \rightarrow R$ be a continuously differentiable function, then the function V(x) is called radially unbounded if

$$V(x) \to \infty \text{ as } ||x|| \to \infty$$

3.4 Lyapunov direct method

Lyapunov direct method is a strong method to investigate the stability properties of the equilibrium point for both autonomous and non-autonomous nonlinear systems without the need to solve the nonlinear differential equations. If we construct a scalar function V of a system state x, and derive V with respect to time, we see that V is positive everywhere except at the equilibrium point x = 0 and $\dot{V} \le 0$ for every x, then, we say that the point x = 0 is a stable equilibrium point. This result can be extended to provide criteria for determining the equilibrium if it is asymptotically or exponentially stable for global stability analysis [9]. The following theorems deal with Lyapunov direct method and explain the conditions to obtain the types of stability. **Theorem 1 [8]**: Suppose x = 0 be an equilibrium point for (3.3) and $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a domain including the point x = 0. Let $V: S \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous differential function, then

- a) V(0) = 0,
- b) V(x) > 0 in a domain $S \{0\}$,
- c) $\dot{V}(x) \le 0$ in a domain $S \{0\}$.

Thus, x = 0 is called stable point.

Proof [8]: Let $\varepsilon > 0$, select $l \in (0, \varepsilon]$ such that the closed ball

$$B_l = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \| x \| \le l \right\} \subset S$$

is continuous in S, Let $\eta = \min_{\|x\|=l} V(x)$. Thus, $\eta \succ 0$ by condition (a) and (b) of Theorem 1, take $\mu \in (0, \eta)$ and let

$$\Psi_{\mu} = \Big\{ x \in B_l \big| V(x) \le \mu \Big\}.$$

Then, Ψ_{μ} is in the interior of B_l . The set Ψ_{μ} carry the characteristic that each trajectory starts in Ψ_{μ} at t = 0 remains in Ψ_{μ} when $t \ge 0$. This follows from part (c) of the Theorem 1, since

$$V(x(t)) \le 0 \rightarrow V(x(t)) \le V(x(0)) \le \mu$$
, for all $t \ge 0$

It then follows that any trajectory begins in Ψ_{μ} at t = 0 remains inside Ψ_{μ} for all $t \ge 0$. Thus V(x) is continuous, it follows that $\exists \gamma > 0$ such that

$$\|x\| < \gamma \to V(x) < \mu,$$

then

$$B_{\gamma} \subset \Psi_{\mu} \subset B_l,$$

and

$$x(0) \in B_{\gamma}$$
. This leads to $x(0) \in \Psi_{\mu}$ and $x(t) \in \Psi_{\mu}$, thus $x(t) \in B_{\mu}$,

so,

$$x(t) < \gamma \rightarrow ||x(t)|| < l \le \varepsilon, \ \forall t \ge 0.$$

This means that the equilibrium point is stable at the point x = 0.

Theorem 2 [9]: In addition to all the conditions in Theorem 1, with x = 0, if V(.) is such that

- i) V(0) = 0,
- ii) V(x) > 0 in a domain $S \{0\}$,
- iii) $\dot{V}(x) < 0$ in a domain $S \{0\}$.

Then, we have asymptotically stable at the point x = 0.

Proof [9]: Under all these statements of the theorem, V(x) actually decreases along the trajectory of g(x). Using the same state utilized in Theorem 1, if each real a > 0can be choosen b > 0 thus, $\Psi_b \subset B_a$, whenever the initial condition is inside Ψ_b , the solution will remain inside Ψ_b . Therefore, to prove the asymptotic stability, all we need to show is that Ψ_b reduces to 0 in the limit. In other words, Ψ_b shrinks to a single point as $t \to \infty$. However, this is simple, since by assumption $\dot{V}(x) \prec 0$ in S. Thus, V(x) tends to steadily reach zero along the solutions of g(x).

Example 1 [8]:

We consider a simple pendulum with friction, namely [8]

$$\dot{x} = y,$$

$$\dot{y} = -\frac{g}{l}\sin x - \frac{k}{m}y.$$
(3.8)

The equilibrium points are (0,0) and $(\pi,0)$, in this example it deals with energy, then, the total energy in this system equal to our Lyapunov candidate function V(x)[8], namely

$$E = V(x) = mgl(1 - \cos x) + \frac{1}{2}ml^2y^2 > 0.$$

So, if we take the derivative of the function V(x) we get

$$\dot{V}(x) = \left[mgl\sin x, ml^2 y \left[y, -\frac{g}{l}\sin x - \frac{k}{m} y \right]^T = -kl^2 y^2.$$

Here $\dot{V}(x)$ is not *negative definite*, but *negative semi-definite*, thus, the origin is not asymptotic stable but is stable.

Here Lypunov candidate function fails to identify the asymptotically stability in the origin.

LaSalle's invariance principle [9] was developed in 1960 by J.P. LaSalle. It effectively develops a method of obtaining asymptotic stability without the need of the time derivative of the Lyapunov function to be *negative definite* function, but only needs to be *negative semi definite* function. The principle essentially says that if a Lyapunov function exists in a neighborhood of the origin, with a *negative semi definite* time derivative along the trajectories of the system, it can be established that no trajectory can stay identically at the points where $\dot{V}(t) = 0$, except at the origin, therefore, the origin is asymptotically stable. In order to understand better we present a definition and theorems related to the LaSalle's invariance principle [13].

Definition 10 [9]: If *S* is an invariant set belonging to (3.3), then, $x(0) \in S \rightarrow x(t) \in S \quad \forall t \in R^+$.

Theorem 3 [9]: (LaSalle's Theorem). Suppose $V: S \rightarrow R$ be a differentiable continuous function, such that:

- a) $B \subset S$ is a compact set invariant according to the solution of (3.3).
- b) $\dot{V}(x) \leq 0$ in B.

c) $M : \{x : x \in B, \text{ and } \dot{V} = 0\}$; that is, M is the set of points of B such that $\dot{V} = 0$.

d) N: is the largest invariant set in M.

Therefore, each solution starts in *B* approaches to *N* as $t \rightarrow \infty$.

Proof [9]: Suppose that a solution x(t) in (3.8) starts in B. Since $\dot{V}(x) \le 0 \in B$, we have a decreasing function V(x) of t and V(.) is a continuous function, it is bounded from below in the compact set B. It can be said that V(x(t)) has a limit when $t \to \infty$. Let ω be a limit set of this trajectory. It follows that $\omega \subset B$ since B is an invariant closed set, for each $s \in \omega$ there is a sequence t_n with $t_n \to \infty$ and $x(t_n) \to s$. By continuity of V(x), we conclude

$$V(s) = \lim_{n \to \infty} V(x(t_n)) = a \ (a \text{ constant}).$$

Note that V(x) = a on ω . Also, by Lemma 3.5 in [9], we consider that ω be an invariant set, and $\dot{V}(x) = 0$ on ω because V(x) is constant on ε , then, we obtain

$$\omega \subset N \subset M \subset B$$

Thus, x(t) is boundness by Lemma 3.4 in [9]. This means that x(t) approaches ω and it is positive limit set as $t \to \infty$. So, x(t) approaches N as $t \to \infty$.

Remark 1 [9]:

LaSalle's theorem goes beyond the Lyapunov stability theorems in an important aspect, which is that, V(.) is required to be continuously differentiable and bounded, but it is not required to be *positive definite*.

Theorem 4 [9]: The system (3.3), when x = 0 is asymptotically stable if

a) V(x) is a *positive definite* function for all $x \in S$, we suppose that $0 \in S$,

b) $\dot{V}(x)$ is a negative semi definite,

c) $\dot{V}(x)$ does not vanish identically along the trajectory in *R*, other than the null solution x = 0.

Proof [9]: By Lyapunov stability theorem, we know that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\sigma > 0$, such that

$$\|x_0\| < \sigma \to \|x(t)\| < \varepsilon.$$

If a solution starting inside the closed ball B_{σ} , it will stay within the closed ball B_{ε} . Hence any solution $x(t, x_0, t_0)$ of (3.8) that starts in B_{σ} is bounded and tends to its limit set of N that is contained in B_{ε} . Also V(x) can be a continuous function on the set B_{ε} and bounded from below in B_{ε} . It is also non-increasing according to the assumption, thus, it tends to a non-negative limit L as $t \to \infty$. Notice that V(x) = Lfor all x in the limit set N. If N is an invariant set according to (3.3), meaning that if a solution starts in N, it will remain there forever. However, along that solution of $\dot{V}(x) = 0$ it can be said that V(x) is a constant (=L) in N. Thus, by assumption, N is the origin of the state space. We can conclude that the solution starts in $R \subset B_{\sigma}$ converges to x = 0 as $t \to \infty$. Let us refer back to example of pendulum, when the origin of the nonlinear system has stable by using Lyapunov direct method. However, the asymptotically stability could not be obtained [9]. Taking in to account that

$$V(x) = mgl(1 - \cos x) + \frac{1}{2}ml^2y^2 > 0$$
(3.9)

we obtain

$$\dot{V}(x) = -kl^2 y^2.$$
(3.10)

Here $\dot{V}(x) = 0$ is *negative semi definite*, for (x,0), if we apply Theorem 4, conditions (a),(b) we obtain that the origin $R = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix}$.

Here $-\pi < x < \pi$, -a < y < a, for any $a \in R^+$. By checking the condition (c) if \dot{V} vanish identically along the trajectories trapped in R, other than the null solution. Using (3.10) we conclude

$$\dot{V} = 0$$
, then $-kl^2y^2 = 0$ and $y = 0$ for all t and $\dot{y} = 0$.

By using (3.8) we get $0 = \frac{g}{l} \sin x - \frac{k}{m} y$. Since y = 0, this leads to $\sin x = 0$.

Locating x to $x \in (-\pi, \pi)$ condition (c) is satisfied if and only if x = 0. So, $\dot{V}(x) = 0$ does not vanish identically along any trajectory other than x = 0, therefore, x = 0 is an asymptotic stable by Theorem 4 [9].

Theorem 5 [8]: Suppose x = 0 be an equilibrium point for (3.3) if $V : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous differentiable function satisfying

- a) V(0) = 0,
- b) V(x) > 0
- c) $||x|| \to \infty \Longrightarrow V(x) \to \infty$,
- d) $\dot{V}(x) < 0$.

Thus, x = 0 is globally asymptotically stable.

Proof [9]: the proof follows as in the proof of theorem 2, we just need to prove for given an arbitrary b > 0, the condition

$$\Psi_b = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : V(x) \le b \right\}.$$

It defines a set which is contained in a ball $B_l = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x|| \le l\}$, when l > 0. To see this, it should noticed that the radial unboundedness of V(.) implies for any b > 0, $\exists l > 0$ such that V(x) > b whenever ||x|| > l for some l > 0. Thus, $\Psi_b \subset B_a$, which means that Ψ_b is bounded.

Theorem 6 [8]: Suppose the equilibrium point x = 0 for the non-autonomous system (2.3), and $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a domain including this point, let $V: [0, \infty) \times S \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuously differentiable function such that

$$G_1(x) \le V(t, x) \le G_2(x),$$
 (3.11)

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} g(t, x) \le -G_3(x).$$
(3.12)

For all $t \ge 0$ and for all $x \in S$, where G_1, G_2 and G_3 are positive continuously differential functions on S, then, x = 0 is uniformly asymptotically stable. In addition, if l and k are selected such that $B_l = \{ \|x\| \le l \} \subset S$ and $k < \min_{\|x\|=l} G_1(x)$, then,

each trajectory starting in $\{x \in B_l | G_2(x) \le k\}$ achieves

$$\|x(t)\| \le \mu(\|x(t_0)\|, t - t_0), \text{ for all } t \ge t_0 \ge 0,$$
 (3.13)

for some class \mathcal{KL} function μ . Finally, if $S = R^n$ and $G_1(x)$ is radially unbounded, then, x = 0 is a global uniform asymptotic stable.

Proof : See [8].

Before we present the exponential stability theorem, it is better to explain Lemma 1.

Lemma 1 [9]: The function $V: S \to R$ is positive differentiable function if and only if there are the functions σ_1, σ_2 in class \mathcal{K} such that

$$\sigma_1(\|x\|) \le V(x) \le \sigma_2(\|x\|), \ \forall x \in B_l \subset S.$$
(3.14)

In addition, if $S = R^n$ and V(.) is radially unbounded then, σ_1, σ_2 belong to the class \mathcal{K}_{∞} .

Proof [9]: Given $V(x): S \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$, we show that V(x) is a positive definite function if and only if there is $\sigma_1 \in \mathcal{K}$ achieves

$$\sigma_1(||x||) \leq V(x), \forall x \in S.$$

It is obvious that σ_1 is a sufficient condition for the positive definiteness of V. To prove the necessity condition, we use the definition

$$G(y) = \min_{y \le \|x\| \le l} V(x), \text{ for } 0 \le y \le l.$$

The function G(.) is well defined since V(.) is continuous and $y \le ||x|| \le l$ defines a compact set in \mathbb{R}^n . Moreover, this function G(.) has the following characteristics:

- i) $G \le V(x) \ 0 \le ||x|| \le l$,
- ii) It is continuous,
- iii) It is a positive definite (since V(x) > 0),
- iv) It satisfies G(0) = 0.

So, G is almost in the class \mathcal{K} . It is not, in general, in \mathcal{K} because it is not strictly increasing. We also have that:

$$G(||x||) \le V(x)$$
, for $0 \le ||x|| \le l$. (3.15)

However G(x) is not in class \mathcal{K} since, in general, it is not strictly increasing. Let $\sigma_1(y)$ be in class \mathcal{K} function such that $\sigma_1(y) \le kG(y)$ with 0 < k < 1. Thus, we conclude

$$\sigma_1(\|x\|) \le G(\|x\|) \le V(x), \text{ for } \|x\| \le l.$$
(3.16)

The function σ_1 can be constructed as follows:

$$\sigma_1(r) = \min\left[\frac{r}{y}G(y)\right] r \le y \le l.$$
(3.17)

This function is strictly increasing. To see this notice that:

$$\frac{\sigma_1}{r} = \min\left[\frac{G(y)}{y}\right] r \le y \le l.$$
(3.18)

It is positive and also non-decreasing since r increases, the set over which the minimum is computed keeps "shrinking". Thus, from (3.18), σ_1 is strictly increasing. So, this proves that there is $\sigma_1(.) \in \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$\sigma_1(\|x\|) \le V(x), \text{ for each } \|x\| \le l.$$
(3.19)

By the same way, the existence of $\sigma_2(.) \in \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$V(x) \le \sigma_2(||x||)$$
, when $||x|| \le l$. (3.20)

We can be proved similarly.

Theorem 7 [9]: Consider that the conditions of Theorem 2 are achieved, moreover, there are positive constants B_1, B_2, B_3 and σ such that

$$B_1 \|x\|^{\sigma} \le V(t, x) \le B_2 \|x\|^{\sigma},$$
$$\dot{V}(x) \le -B_3 \|x\|^{\sigma}.$$

So, the origin is exponentially stable, in addition, if the condition occurs globally, then, when x = 0 is globally exponentially stable.

Proof [9]: According to the suppositions of Theorem 7, also the function V(x) that achieved Lemma 1, when σ_1, σ_2 satisfied some conditions. We have the followings

$$B_1 \|x\|^{\sigma} \le V(t, x) \le B_2 \|x\|^{\sigma} ,$$

$$\dot{V}(x) \le -B_3 \|x\|^{\sigma} \le -\frac{B_3}{B_2} V(x) .$$

Since,

$$\dot{V}(x) \leq -\frac{B_3}{B_2} V(x) \, .$$

This leads to

$$V(x) \le V(x_0) e^{-(\frac{B_3}{B_2})t},$$

then

$$\|x\| \leq \left[\frac{V(x)}{B_1}\right]^{\frac{1}{\sigma}} \leq \left[\frac{V(x_0)e^{-\left(\frac{B_3}{B_2}\right)t}}{B_1}\right]^{\frac{1}{\sigma}},$$

or

$$\|x\| \leq \|x_0\| \left[\frac{B_2}{B_1}\right]^{\frac{1}{\sigma}} e^{-\left(\frac{B_3}{\sigma B_2}\right)t}.$$

Remark 2 [9]: Exponential stability is the powerful form of stability, because of its precise rate which makes the trajectory converges to the equilibrium point. Moreover, the exponential stability means an asymptotic stability, but the converse is incorrect. In the linear systems, the uniform asymptotic stability and uniform exponential stability is similar.

During our study of Lyapunov direct methods, we observed that some virtues can be mentioned in this section. For example, in this method we can use an energy-like function to study the behavior of the dynamical systems, reflecting in many cases of the physical properties of the system. This method can determines the stability of the nonlinear systems without need to solve the differential equations and it is a powerful method for stability analysis and the control theory by determining the stability, asymptotic stability, exponential stability and instability properties. It is also uses to estimate global stability of the domain of attraction.

On the other hand, there are many flaws of the Lyapunov direct methods, such that, the construction of the Lyapunov function is not easy for general nonlinear systems it is usually a trial-and-error process. Furthermore, there is a lack of systematic methods, and sometimes Lyapunov candidate function fails to identify an asymptotic stable equilibrium, although the system is asymptotic stable. If Lypunov candidate function sometimes fails to achieve the conditions for the stability, this does not means that the equilibrium is not stable or asymptotic stable, but only means that such stability properties cannot be found by using Lyapunov functions [7].

3.5 Phase plane diagrams for linear systems

Consider the nonlinear system in (3.3), with the condition g(0) = 0. If we apply Taylor's theorem of g we obtain that [9]

$$g(x) = A(x) + y(x).$$
 (3.21)

Here y(x) denotes the sum of higher order terms, A represents the Jacobian matrix of g evaluated at x = 0, namely

$$A = \left[\frac{\partial g}{\partial x}\right]_{x=0} = \begin{bmatrix}\frac{\partial g_1}{\partial x_1} & \dots & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial x_n}\\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots\\ \frac{\partial g_n}{\partial x_1} & \dots & \frac{\partial g_n}{\partial x_n}\end{bmatrix}$$

Neglecting the higher-order terms, then, the linearization of (3.3) about x = 0 becomes [9]

$$\dot{x} = Ax . \tag{3.22}$$

Therefore, the system (3.22) is called the linearization of the system (3.3).

We would like to obtain some information about what happens near the origin for the linear system (3.22). Let us explain some details for a real two dimensional system, namely [22]

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{bmatrix}' = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.23)

The entries of the matrix are:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}.$$

If we computed the characteristic polynomial we can conclude [22].

$$p(\lambda) = \lambda^2 - (a+d)\lambda + ad - bc = \lambda^2 - tr(A) + \det(A).$$
(3.24)

We have λ_1 and λ_2 are eigenvalues of A and the characteristic polynomial become

$$p(\lambda) = (\lambda - \lambda_1)(\lambda - \lambda_2) = \lambda^2 - (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)\lambda + \lambda_1\lambda_2.$$
(3.25)

Thus, we can compute that [22]

$$\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = tr(A),$$

$$\lambda_1 \lambda_2 = \det(A).$$
(3.26)

If the matrix trace of A is denoted by $T_r = tr(A)$ and the determinant is denoted by $D_{et} = \det(A)$, then, the values of the eigenvalues are [22]

$$\lambda_1, \lambda_2 = \frac{T_r \pm \sqrt{T_r^2 - 4D_{et}}}{2}.$$

Let us denotes $\Delta = T_r^2 - 4D_{et}$.

3.5.1 Classification of stability

By returning to the system (3.23), we can classify the stability as follows [22].

1. Stable origin, if [22]

- i) $\Delta > 0$, $D_{et} = 0$, $T_r < 0$,
- ii) $\Delta < 0, T_r = 0$.

2. Asymptotic stable origin, if [22]

i) $\Delta > 0, T_r < 0,$ ii) $\Delta = 0, T_r < 0,$ iii) $\Delta < 0, T_r < 0.$

3. Unstable origin, if [22]

- i) $\Delta > 0, D_{et} = 0, T_r > 0,$
- ii) $\Delta = 0, T_r > 0,$
- iii) $\Delta < 0, T_r > 0.$

Now, we classify the behavior of the system (3.23) to various cases for eigenvalues.

3.5.2 Classification of the eigenvalues in cases

Case 1. Distinct real eigenvalues: $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ [8]

- i) Both eigenvalues are negative (λ₁ < λ₂ < 0). As t→+∞, all trajectories flux into the origin, therefore the trajectories are asymptotically stable and in x = 0 we have a node.
- ii)When eigenvalues are positive $(\lambda_1 > \lambda_2 > 0)$. As $t \to +\infty$, all trajectories flux away from the origin to become arbitrarily large and the equilibrium point x = 0 indicates an unstable node.
- iii)One negative eigenvalue and one zero eigenvalue $(\lambda_1 < 0), (\lambda_2 = 0)$. The phase portrait is in some sense of decay, and the matrix A has a null space. The points on the $x_1 axis$ are fixed, then, the origin is stable, but not asymptotic stable.
- iv)One positive eigenvalue and one zero eigenvalue $(\lambda_1 > 0), (\lambda_2 = 0)$. Here some points on the $x_1 axis$ are fixed, and the others ran away to infinity along the vertical line.
- v) Both eigenvalues are zero $(\lambda_1 = 0), (\lambda_2 = 0)$. In this case the trajectories start from the equilibrium subspace and move parallel to it.
- vi)One negative and one positive eigenvalue $(\lambda_1 < 0 < \lambda_2)$. The points on the $x_1 axis$ approach the origin, whereas, the points on $x_2 axis$ go away from the origin.

Case 2. Nonzero multiple eigenvalues: $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda \neq 0$ [24].

- i) If $\lambda < 0$, then the origin is a stable node.
- ii) If $\lambda > 0$, then the origin is unstable, the orbits are like the stable case reversing the time direction.

Case 3. Complex eigenvalues: $\lambda_{1,2} = \sigma \pm i\beta$ [8]

- i) If $\sigma = 0$, solutions are periodic, and the trajectories are ellipses centered at the origin.
- ii) If $\sigma < 0$, the trajectories are spiral converging to the origin as time increase.
- iii)If $\sigma > 0$, the trajectories are spiral moving away from the origin as time increases.

3.6 Analysis of linear time-invariant systems

Consider an autonomous linear time-invariant system given in the system (3.22) and we can define the Lyapunov function V(x) is a quadratic function candidate, namely [8]

$$V(x) = x^T k x. aga{3.27}$$

We can choose $k \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ satisfying the conditions:

- i) Symmetric, $k = k^T$,
- ii) Positive definite,
- iii) k is constant.

Thus, V(x) is *positive definite*, then, the derivative for the function V(x) along the trajectories of (3.22) gives

$$\dot{V} = \dot{x}^T k x + x^T k \dot{x} \,.$$

By using (3.22), $\dot{x}^T = x^T A^T$, we report $\dot{V} = x^T A^T k x + x^T k A x = x^T (A^T k + k A) x$ if

$$kA + A^T k = -G. aga{3.28}$$

Choose G a symmetric matrix, then, we report

$$\dot{V} = -x^T G x. \tag{3.29}$$

If *G* is a *positive definite* matrix, then, V(x) is *negative definite*, then, as a result the origin is asymptotic stable, to analyze the positive definiteness of the matrices (k, G) we present in the following two steps:

1. Select a symmetric, positive definite matrix G.

2. Find *k* achieving the equation (3.28) and must be *positive definite*.

We can consider that V(x) is a Lyapunov function, then, the equation (3.28) is called the matrix of Lyapunov equation. These above steps described as the stability analysis depends on the pair (k, G) which in turn rely on the existence of a unique solution of Lyapunov equation for the matrix A. The following theorem explains the stability in Lyapunov equation.

Theorem 8 [8]: A matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is called Hurwitz (if $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_i < 0$). For all eigenvalues of A, if and only if for every given positive definite symmetric matrix G we find a positive definite symmetric matrix k that achieves Lyapunov equation (3.28). In addition, if A is Hurwitz, then, k is a unique solution of (3.28).

Proof [8]: Suppose that $G \ge 0$ then, there exists k > 0 satisfies (3.28). Since $V(x) = x^T k x > 0$ with $\dot{V}(x) = -x^T G x < 0$, the asymptotic stability follows Theorem 2. For the converse, assume that $\text{Re } \lambda_i < 0$ and given *G*, define *k* as follows:

$$k = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{A^{T}t} G e^{At} dt .$$
 (3.30)

This k is well defined, given the assumptions on the eigenvalues of A. The matrix k is also symmetric, since $(e^{A^T t})^T = e^{At}$. We assume that k is positive definite. To satisfy this case, we reason by contradiction and assume that the opposite is true, that is, $\exists x \neq 0$ such that $x^T kx = 0$, but if $x^T kx = 0$ it leads to [8]

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{T} e^{A^{T} t} G e^{A t} x dt = 0.$$

Then, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} y^{T} G y dt = 0, \text{ if } y = e^{At} x,$$

where

$$y = e^{At}x = 0$$
 for all $t \ge 0$, then, $x = 0$.

 e^{at} is nonsingular $\forall t$. This contradicts the assumption, and we think that k is indeed a positive definite. Now, we show that k achieves the Lyapunov equation [8]

$$kA + A^{T}k = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{A^{T}t} G e^{At} A dt + \int_{0}^{\infty} A^{T} e^{A^{T}t} G e^{At} dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d}{dt} (e^{A^{T}t} G e^{At}) dt = e^{A^{T}t} G e^{At} \bigg|_{0}^{\infty} = -G,$$

proving that, k is indeed a solution of Lyapunov equation. To finalize this, it remains to display that this k is unique. To understand this, assume that there is another solution $\tilde{k} = k$, such that

$$(k - \widetilde{k})A + A^{T}(k - \widetilde{k}) = 0,$$

then, we conclude that

$$e^{A^{T_t}}\left[(k-\widetilde{k})A+A^{T}(k-\widetilde{k})\right]e^{At}=0.$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[e^{A^{T}t}(k-\widetilde{k})e^{At}\right]=0,$$

meaning that $e^{A^{T_t}}(k-\tilde{k})e^{At}$ is a constant $\forall t$. This can be the case if and only if $k-\tilde{k}=0$, or $k=\tilde{k}$.

3.7 Lyapunov indirect method

Lyapunov indirect method gives conditions from a nonlinear system to achieve the local stability near any equilibrium point by examining the equilibrium point of the linearized system [10]. The following theorem achieves this property.

Theorem 9 [8]: Let x = 0 be an equilibrium point of (3.3), where $g: S \to R^n$ is differential continuous and *S* is a neighborhood when x = 0, then

$$B = \frac{\partial g}{\partial x}(x)\big|_{x=0} \ .$$

Thus we have:

i) Asymptotically stable origin if $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_i < 0$ for all eigenvalues of matrix *B*.

ii) Unstable origin if $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_i > 0$ for all eigenvalues of *B*.

Proof [8]: First, we prove (i). Suppose that *B* is a Hurwitz matrix, by Theorem 7, since for every symmetric positive definite matrix *O*, the solution *k* of Lyapunov equation (3.28) is a positive definite. If we suppose that $V(x) = x^T kx$ is a Lyapunov candidate function, then, to derive this function along the trajectories of the system, we conclude

$$\dot{V}(x) = x^T kg(x) + g^T(x)kx$$

= $x^T k[Bx + y(x)] + [x^T B^T + y^T(x)]kx$
= $x^T (kB + B^T k)x + 2x^T ky(x)$
= $-x^T Ox + 2x^T ky(x)$.

As it can be seen, the first term $(-x^T O x)$ is *negative definite*, but the other term $(2x^T k y(x)$ is an indefinite sign, so the function y(x) satisfies [8]

$$\frac{\|y(x)\|_2}{\|x\|_2} \to 0 \text{ as } \|x\|_2 \to 0.$$

So, for each $\sigma > 0$, there is $l \succ 0$ then

$$||y(x)||_2 < \sigma ||x||_2, \ \forall ||x||_2 < l.$$

Hence, it implies that

$$\dot{V}(x) < -x^T O x + 2\sigma \|k\|_2 \|x\|_2^2, \ \forall \ \|x\|_2 < l,$$

but

$$x^T O x \ge \lambda_{\min}(O) \|x\|_2^2.$$

Here $\lambda_{\min}(.)$ refers to the minimum eigenvalue of B, and $\lambda_{\min}(O)$ is positive and real, since O is a symmetric and *posative definite*, we have [8]

$$\dot{V}(x) < -[\lambda_{\min}(O) - 2\sigma \|k\|_2] \|x\|_2^2$$
, for all $\|x\|_2 < l$.

Selecting $\sigma < (1/2)\lambda_{\min}(O)/||k||_2$ note that $\dot{V}(x)$ is a *negative definite*. By Theorems 1 and 2, we achieved that the origin is asymptotically stable.

There are some flaws of the Lyapunov indirect methods. For example, it can estimate just the local stability and determine the asymptotic stability properties only [8].

3.8 Instability theorems

Theorem 10 [12]: If we have the system (3.3), let

$$J = \left[\frac{\partial g}{\partial x}\right]_{x=0}.$$

It is the system which Jacobian has estimated at x = 0. Then, if at least one of the eigenvalues of the matrix J carries a positive real part, here we can say that x = 0 is unstable.

Theorem 11 [9]: Suppose x = 0 is an equilibrium of (3.3), let $V: S \to R$ be a continuous differentiable function and V(0) = 0, $V(x_0) > 0$ for any x_0 with the arbitrarily small $||x_0||$, if we define the set *H* such that

$$H = \left\{ x \in B_l \middle| V(x) > 0 \right\},\$$

and

$$B_l = \left\{ x \in R^n \| \|x\| \le l \right\}.$$

It can be considered that $\dot{V}(x) > 0$ in *H*, then, the system (3.3) is unstable at the equilibrium point x = 0.

Proof [8]: Suppose the point x_0 is inside H and $V(x_0) = b > 0$, then the trajectory x(t) which starts at $x(0) = x_0$ should leave the set H, since x(t) is inside H and V(0) > 0 in H, moreover $V(x(t)) \ge b$, let

$$\sigma = \min\{V(x) | x \in H \text{ and } V(x) \ge b\},\$$

which exists as long as $\dot{V}(x)$ has a minimum value over the compact set $\{x \in H \text{ and } V(x) \ge b\} = \{x \in B_l \text{ and } V(x) \ge b\}$, so, $\sigma \succ 0$ and [8]

$$V(x(t)) = V(x_0) + \int_0^t \dot{V}(x(s)) ds \ge b + \int_0^t \sigma ds = b + \sigma t$$

This shows that x(t) does not stay for a long time in H because V(x) is bounded on H, and x(t) cannot leave H through the surface V(x) = 0. As we know $V(x) \ge b$, it must leave H through the sphere ||x|| = l, because this occurs for the arbitrarily small $||x_0||$. Therefore, the origin is unstable [8].

CHAPTER 4

LYAPUNOV STABILITY FOR DISCRETE TIME SYSTEMS

4.1 Nonlinear systems

Suppose the nonlinear discrete time system [10] is namely

$$x_{r+1} = g(x_r) \,. \tag{4.1}$$

If $x(k) \in S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and $r \in \overline{Z}_+$, and $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a differentiable continuous in a neighborhood of the origin, an equilibrium point $x_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfies $g(x_{\varepsilon}) = x_{\varepsilon}$. The equilibrium point of the system (4.1) can be defined below [10].

Definition 1 [14]: If $g(x_r^*) = 0$ in the nonlinear discrete time system (4.1), then, the point x_r^* is an equilibrium point. Consider the origin $x_r = 0$ as the equilibrium point. In the next definition, we define the types of stability of the equilibrium point.

Definition 2 [10]: If the point $x_r = 0$ is the equilibrium point of (4.1), then, it is 1- Stable, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\|x_0\| < \delta \rightarrow \|x_r\| < \varepsilon, \ r \ge 0$$

2- Locally asymptotic stable, if it achieves the condition of stability and

$$||x_0|| < \delta \rightarrow \lim_{r \to \infty} x_r = 0.$$

3- Globally asymptotic stable, if it is asymptotic stable for all $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

4- Unstable, when it is not Lyapunov stable.

Theorem 1 [12]: Let $x_r = 0$ be an equilibrium point for the system (4.1), then, the system is asymptotic stable near the zero equilibrium point. If there is a function $V(x_r)$ defined in a domain *S* and continuous in x_r and satisfy a) V(0) = 0, b) $V(x_r) > 0 \quad \forall x_r \neq 0$ in *S*, c) $\Delta V(x(r)) = V(x(r+1)) - V(x(r))$ For all $x(r) \in S$. So, $x_r = 0$ is asymptotically stable, if further d) $V \rightarrow \infty$ as $||x_r|| \rightarrow \infty$.

Then, the point $x_r = 0$ is globally asymptotically stable.

4.2 Linear systems

Suppose a discrete time linear system [8], namely

$$x(r+1) = Bx(r)$$
. (4.2)

Here $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, is said to be symmetric if $B = B^T$ and the asymptotic stability of such a system is determined by the eigenvalues found directly in the interior the unit circle in the complex plane.

Definition 3 [8]: A matrix *B* is called asymptotically stable, for all $|\lambda_i| < 1$, and $\forall i = 1, 2, ..., n$. Here λ_i 's are refer to the eigenvalues of the matrix *B*, moreover it called a Schur matrix, if all its eigenvalues lay inside the unit circle in the complex plane. For the discrete time linear system (4.1) the Lyapunov function has a quadratic form [8]

$$V(x(r)) = x^{T}(r)kx(r) > 0,$$

$$\Delta V(x(r)) = V(x(r+1) - V(x(r)) \le 0.$$

We have

$$V(x(r+1)) - V(x(r)) = x^{T}(r+1)kx(r+1) - x^{T}(r)kx(r)$$

= $x^{T}(r)(B^{T}kB - k)x(r) \le 0.$ (4.3)

We should note that the relation between the continuous time argument and discretetime referring to (4.3) as the algebraic Lyapunov equation is similar. We consider the following equation

$$B^T k B - k = -G. (4.4)$$

The equation (4.4) is named Lyapunov matrix equation for the discrete time system (4.1), and the matrix *G* is *positive definite*. Thus, the system is asymptotic stable, if we can pick that G = I, then, the identity matrix can solve

$$B^T k B - k = -I . ag{4.5}$$

Related to *k*, then, we see that if *k* is a *positive definite*.

Theorem 2 [8]: Suppose the linear discrete time system in (4.1), the conditions are equivalent

1- The matrix *B* is asymptotically stable.

2- Given any matrix $G = G^T > 0$ there is a positive matrix $k = k^T$ achieving the discrete-time of Lyapunov matrix equation:

$$B^T k B - k = -G$$

Proof [8]: Firstly show that $1 \rightarrow 2$. Let *B* be asymptotically stable and choose any matrix $G = G^T > 0$. Take the matrix

$$k = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (B^{T})^{i} G B^{i} .$$
(4.6)

It is well defined by the asymptotically stability of *B*, and $k = k^T > 0$ by definition. Now, let us substitute *k* in the Lyapunov matrix equation (4.4), we obtain

$$B^{T}kB - k = B^{T}\left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(B^{T}\right)^{i} GB^{i}\right)B - \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(B^{T}\right)^{i} GB^{i}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(B^{T}\right)^{i} GB^{i} - \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(B^{T}\right)^{i} GB^{i} = -G$$

In order to show the uniqueness, suppose that there is another matrix \tilde{k} that satisfies the Lyapunov equation. After some steps, we can show that

$$\left(B^{T}\right)^{M}\left(k-\widetilde{k}\right)B^{M}=k-\widetilde{k}$$

Letting $M \rightarrow \infty$ gives the desired result.

In order to show that $2 \rightarrow 1$, suppose the Lyapunov function $V(x) = x^T kx$, fix x(0) to be an initial state. We obtain

$$V(x(M)) - V(x(0)) \le -\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} x(i)^{T} G x(i) \le \lambda_{\min}(G) \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left\| x(i) \right\|_{2}^{2}.$$
 (4.7)

Therefore, the sequence $[V(x(r))]_{r\in M}$ is strictly decreasing and bounded from below, therefore, it attains a non-negative limit. Moreover, we can show by contradiction that this limit is actually 0, or equivalently $\lim_{i\to\infty} ||x(i)|| = 0$, since this holds for any choice of x(0), so, *B* is asymptotically stable.

Theorem 3 [12]: Suppose that $x^* = 0$ is an equilibrium point of the system (4.1), where $g: S \to R^n$ is continuous differentiable near a neighborhood of the origin, $S \subseteq R^n$, consider

$$J = \left[\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_r}\right]_{x_r = x^* = 0},$$

be the Jacobian of the above system at the equilibrium point $x^* = 0$. If all the eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix J are less than one in absolute value, therefore the system (4.1) is named asymptotically stable near this zero equilibrium point.

Proof: See [12].

CHAPTER 5

STABILITY ANALYSIS OF FRACTIONAL ORDER SYSTEMS

Fractional calculus is related to the calculus of integrals and derivatives of orders that may be real or complex. Nowadays the applications of fractional calculus are very wide in various fields of sciences and engineering, such as signal and image processing, chemistry, physics, biology, economics, chaos theory and control theory [37,41]. One of the features of using fractional-order derivatives instead of integer-order derivatives for solving a system, is that some times when we solve a system which is of the kind of integer-order derivative, this system turned to be unstable. But if we solved this system by fractional-order derivative, the system turned out to be stable [46].

5.1 Preliminaries

The formula of a fractional integral with $\sigma \in (0,1)$ is given bellow [38]

$${}_{a}\mathcal{D}_{t}^{-\sigma}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\sigma)}\int_{a}^{t} \frac{g(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{1-\sigma}} d\tau, \qquad (5.1)$$

where g(t) is an arbitrary integrable function. ${}_{a}\mathcal{D}_{t}^{-\sigma}$ represents the fractional integral of order σ on [a,t], and $\Gamma(.)$ is the Gamma function which is defined as: $\Gamma(z) = \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{z-1} e^{t} dt$.

The Riemann-Liouville derivative of fractional order σ can be defined by [39]:

$${}_{a}^{R}D_{t}^{\sigma}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\sigma)}\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}\int_{a}^{t}\frac{g(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma-n+1}}d\tau , \qquad (5.2)$$

for $(n-1 < \sigma < n)$.

The Grunwald–Letnikov derivative is defined by [39]:

$${}_{a}^{G}D_{t}^{\sigma}g(t) = \lim_{h \to 0} g_{h}^{(\sigma)}(t) = \lim_{h \to 0} h^{-\sigma} \sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{(t-\sigma)}{h} \right\rfloor} (-1)^{i} {\sigma \choose i} g(t-ih),$$
(5.3)

in which [.] refers to the integer part.

The Caputo fractional derivative has the form [39]:

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\sigma)} \int_{a}^{t} \frac{g^{n}(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma-n+1}} d\tau, \ n-1 < \sigma < n.$$
(5.4)

The Mittag-Leffler function has the form [36]:

$$E_{\sigma}(H) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{H^{k}}{\Gamma(k\sigma+1)},$$
(5.5)

where $\sigma > 0$, $H \in R$. The definition of Mittag-Leffler function of two–parameters is [36]:

$$E_{\sigma,\beta}(H) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{H^k}{\Gamma(k\sigma + \beta)},$$

(5.6)

where $\sigma > 0$, $\beta \in R$, $H \in R$.

The Laplace transform of g(t) can be defined as [48]:

$$G(s) = \mathcal{L}\{g(t); s\} = \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{-st} g(t) dt .$$
 (5.7)

 $\mathcal{L}^{\{\}}_{\{\cdot\}}$ stands for the Laplace transform.

The Laplace transform for Mittag-Leffler function has the form [36]:

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{t^{\beta-1}E_{\sigma,\beta}(\pm\lambda t^{\sigma})\right\} = \frac{s^{\sigma-\beta}}{s^{\sigma} \mp \lambda}, \quad (R(s) > \left|\lambda\right|^{\frac{1}{\sigma}}).$$
(5.8)

Here, *s* is the variable in Laplace domain, R(s) is the real part of *s*, $\lambda \in R$.

The Laplace transform of the Caputo derivative is written as [48]:

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}^{C} D_{t}^{\sigma} g(t) = s^{\sigma} G(s) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} s^{(\sigma-k-1)} g^{(k)}(0), \quad n-1 < \sigma < n.$$
(5.9)

5.2 Stability analysis by Caputo fractional system

Consider the fractional system [38], namely

$${}_{t_0}^C D_t^\sigma x(t) = g(t, x).$$
(5.10)

 $x(t_0)$ denoting the initial condition, where $\sigma \in (0,1)$, $g:[t_0,\infty] \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a locally Lipschitz in x, it is continuous in t on $[t_0,\infty] \times \Omega$, and $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a domain containing the equilibrium point x = 0[38].

Definition 1 [36]: If x_0 is the equilibrium point of the Caputo fractional system (5.10), then, it is true if and only if $g(t, x_0) = 0$.

Definition 2 [36]: If $\sigma: [0,t) \to [0,\infty)$ is a continuous function is said to belong to class \mathcal{K} if it is strictly increasing and $\sigma(0) = 0$.

Lemma 1 [36]: (Fractional Comparison Principle): Suppose ${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}g(t) \ge {}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}h(t)$ and g(0) = h(0), where $\beta \in (0,1)$, then, $g(t) \ge h(t)$.

Proof [36]: From ${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}g(t) \ge {}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}h(t)$, there is a nonnegative function w(t) achieves

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}g(t) \ge w(t) + {}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}h(t).$$
(5.11)

Taking the Laplace transform of equation (5.11), we get

$$s^{\beta}G(s) - s^{\beta-1}g(0) = w(s) + s^{\beta}H(s) - s^{\beta-1}h(0) + s^{\beta}H(s) + s^{\beta}H(s) - s^{\beta-1}h(0) + s^{\beta}H(s) +$$

It is followed by g(0) = h(0) that

$$G(s) = s^{-\beta} w(s) + H(s).$$
 (5.12)

Using the inverse transform to (5.12), it gives us that [36]:

$$g(t) = D_t^{-\beta} w(t) + h(t) .$$

At last, from $w(t) \ge 0$ and (5.1), we conclude that $g(t) \ge h(t)$.

Theorem 1 [38]: Suppose that x = 0 is the equilibrium point for the system (5.10), consider a Lyapunov function V(t, x(t)) with functions $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3$ belong to class \mathcal{K} satisfying

$$\sigma_1 \|x\| \le V(t, x) \le \sigma_2 \|x\|, \qquad (5.13)$$

$$\int_{0}^{C} D_{t}^{\mu} V(t, x(t)) \leq -\sigma_{3} \|x\|.$$
(5.14)

Where $\mu \in (0,1)$, so, the system (5.11) is asymptotic stable.

Proof [38]: From (5.13) and (5.14), we obtain that

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\mu}V(t,x(t)) \leq -\frac{\sigma_{3}}{\sigma_{2}}(V).$$

If we look at Lemma 1, we can see that V(t, x(t)) is bounded by the unique nonnegative solution of the scalar differential equation

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\mu}g(t) \leq -\frac{\sigma_{3}}{\sigma_{2}}(g(t)), \ g(0) = V(0, x(0)),$$
(5.15)

from definition 1, g(t) = 0 for $t \ge 0$, g(0) = 0 because $\frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_2}$ is a class \mathcal{K} function, or

 $g(t) \ge 0$ on $t \in [0,\infty)$, then from (5.15) we get ${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\mu}g(t) \le 0$. By Lemma 1, we get $g(t) \le g(0)$, then for $t \in [0,\infty)$ we prove that (5.15) is asymptotic stable by contradiction. The second part of the proof can be found in [38].

Example 1 [40]: Consider the system

$$^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}x(t) = \sin x + gx.$$
 (5.16)

The aim is to find the values of parameter g to satisfy the system that will be asymptotic stable of the system (5.16).

Firstly, we choose $V(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2$ to be Lyapunov candidate function, then, we get

$${}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}V(t) = {}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}\frac{1}{2}x^{2} = \frac{1}{2}{}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}x^{2} < x {}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}x(t)$$
$$= x\sin x + gx^{2} \approx x^{2} + gx^{2} = (g+1)x^{2}.$$
(5.17)

Here we considered that $\sin x = x$ for every $x \in (-\frac{\pi}{36}, \frac{\pi}{36})$. Suppose that x is in the given interval, we have for g < -1 and it is corrected when $(g+1)x^2 < 0$. So, the origin is locally asymptotically stable for g < -1.

5.3 Stability analysis by Riemann–Liouville fractional systems

At first we review several properties of Riemann-Liouville and Caputo derivatives.

Property 1 [42]: If $0 < \sigma < 1$, we get

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} x(t) = {}_{t_0} D_t^{\sigma} x(t) - \frac{x(t_0)}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} (t-t_0)^{-\sigma}.$$
(5.18)

If $x(t_0) = 0$, we conclude that

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} x(t) =_{t_0} D_t^{\sigma} x(t) .$$
(5.19)

Property 2 [42]: When u > -1, we have

$${}_{t_0}D_t^{\sigma}(t-t_0)^u = \frac{\Gamma(1+u)}{\Gamma(1+u-\sigma)}(t-t_0)^{u-\sigma}.$$
(5.20)

If $0 < \sigma < 1$ and $x(t) = (t - t_0)^u$, then, from Property 1, we get

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} (t - t_0)^u = \frac{\Gamma(1 + u)}{\Gamma(1 + u - \sigma)} (t - t_0)^{u - \sigma}.$$
(5.21)

Property 3 [42]:

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma}(ax(t) + by(t)) = a_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} x(t) + b_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t).$$
(5.22)

Property 4 [42]: From (5.4), if $0 < \sigma < 1$ we conclude

$$I_{t}^{\sigma} {}_{t_{0}}^{C} D_{t}^{\sigma} x(t) = x(t) - x(t_{0}), \qquad (5.23)$$

and

$$(I_t^{\sigma} g)(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\sigma)} \int_a^t \frac{g(s)ds}{(t-s)^{1-\sigma}}, t \succ t_0.$$

Property 5 [48]: If $\sigma, \beta \in R$, $n \in Z$ and $-1 \le \beta < n$.

$${}_{t_0} D_t^{\sigma}({}_{t_0} D_t^{\beta} g(t)) = {}_{t_0} D_t^{\sigma+\beta} g(t) - \sum_{j=1}^n \left[{}_{t_0} D_t^{\beta-j} g(t) \right]_{t-t_0} \frac{(t-t_0)^{-\sigma-j}}{\Gamma(1-\sigma-j)}.$$
(5.24)

Remark 1 [51]: The derivative for a constant by Caputo is zero, whereas the derivative for a constant by Riemann–Liouville is not zero. However it is equal to

$$D^{\beta}C = \frac{C(t-t_0)^{-\beta}}{\Gamma(1-\beta)}.$$

Lemma 2 [36]: Let $\beta \in (0,1)$ and W(t) be a non-negative arbitrary function on $t \in [0,\infty)$, then

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}W(t) \leq {}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta}W(t).$$
(5.25)

Here ^{C}D and D are the fractional operators of Caputo and Riemann-Liouville types.

Proof [36]: If we use (5.24), we can conclude that

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}W(t) = {}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta-1}\frac{d}{dt}W(t) = {}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta}W(t) - \frac{W(0)t^{-\beta}}{\Gamma(1-\beta)}.$$
(5.26)

Because $\beta \in (0,1)$ and $W(t) \ge 0$, we have

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}W(t) \leq {}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta}W(t)$$

Theorem 2 [38]: If the suppositions in Theorem 1 are achieved when we replace ${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}$ by ${}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta}$, so we have $\lim x(t) = 0$.

Proof [38]: By Lemma 2, with $V(t, x) \ge 0$ we have

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}V(t,x(t)) \leq {}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta}V(t,x(t)),$$

meaning

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\beta}V(t,x(t)) \leq {}_{0}D_{t}^{\beta}V(t,x(t)) \leq -\sigma_{3}(||x||).$$

If we follow the same proof is in Theorem 1, we get

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}x(t)=0.$$

5.4 Stability analysis of Bihari's and Bellman-Grönwall's inequality

In this section we use Bellman-Grönwall's and Bihari's inequality to study some theorems that explain the stability of fractional order systems by using Lyapunov second method.

Theorem 3 [43]: (Bihari's Inequality). Suppose v and g be non-negative continuous functions on $[0,\infty)$, Let k be a continuous increasing function on $[0,\infty)$, where k(t) > 0 in $(0,\infty)$, if there is a positive constant $\alpha \ge 0$, such that v satisfy

$$v(t) \le \alpha + \int_{0}^{t} g(s)k(v(s))ds, \ t \ge 0.$$
 (5.27)

Then,

$$v(t) \le H^{-1} \left[H(\alpha) + \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds \right], \ 0 \le t \le T.$$
 (5.28)

Here, *H* is defined by $H(x) = \int_{x_0}^x \frac{dy}{k(y)}$, $x, x_0 > 0$. Whereas H^{-1} is inverse of *H*,

when T is chosen such that

$$H(\alpha) + \int_{0}^{t} g(s)ds \in \text{Domain } H^{-1} \text{ for } 0 \le t \le T.$$

Proof [43]: Let

$$y(t) \leq \alpha + \int_{o}^{t} g(s)k(v(s))ds,$$

Since g, v and k are continuous functions, then

.

$$y'(t) \le g(t)k(v(t)).$$

Since

$$0 \leq v(t) \leq \alpha + \int_{0}^{t} g(s)k(v(s))ds = y(t),$$

and k is increasing function, then

 $k(v(t)) \le k(y(t)).$

Since, $g(t) \ge 0$, then we obtain

$$y'(t) = g(t)k(v(t)) \le g(t)k(y(t)).$$

Then

$$\frac{y'(t)}{k(y(t))} \le g(t).$$

If $g(0) = \alpha$, then

$$\int_{\alpha}^{y(t)} \frac{1}{k(r)} dr = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{y'(s)}{k(y(s))} d(s) \le \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds.$$
 Suppose $r = y(s)$

Then, we have

$$H(v(t)) - H(\alpha) = \int_{x_0}^{v(t)} \frac{1}{k(r)} dr - \int_{x_0}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{k(r)} dr = \int_{\alpha}^{v(t)} \frac{1}{k(r)} dr$$

$$\leq \int_{\alpha}^{y(t)} \frac{1}{k(r)} dr, \text{ since } v(t) \leq y(t)$$
$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds.$$

That is

$$H(v(t)) \leq H(\alpha) + \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds.$$

Since *H* is increasing function, then H^{-1} in increasing function. So,

$$v(t) \leq H^{-1}\left[H(\alpha) + \int_{0}^{t} g(s)ds\right], \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Theorem 4 [43]: (Bellman-Grönwall integral inequality). Suppose g(t) fulfills

$$g(t) \le \int_{0}^{t} h(\tau)g(\tau)d\tau + k(t),$$
 (5.29)

with h(t) and k(t) that are real functions, then, we can conclude that

$$g(t) \leq \int_{0}^{t} h(\tau)k(\tau) \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r)dr\right] d\tau + k(t).$$

(5.30)

If k(t) is differentiable, then

$$g(t) \le k(0) \exp\left[\int_{0}^{t} h(\tau) d\tau\right] + \int_{0}^{t} k(\tau) \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r) dr\right] d\tau.$$
(5.31)

Particularly, if k(t) is a constant, then, we have

$$g(t) \le k(0) \exp\left[\int_{0}^{t} h(\tau) d\tau\right].$$
(5.32)

Proof [18]: To prove this Theorem we want to define a new variable and transform the integral inequality into a differential equation. Suppose that

$$V(t) = \int_{0}^{t} h(\tau)g(\tau)d\tau .$$
 (5.33)

Now if we take the derivative of V and using (5.29), we get

$$\dot{V} = h(t)g(t) \le h(t)V(t) + h(t)k(t).$$

Suppose that

$$s(t) = h(t)g(t) - h(t)V(t) - h(t)k(t)$$

Which is non-positive function, then V(t) achieves

$$\dot{V}(t) - h(t)V(t) = h(t)k(t) + s(t).$$

To solve this equation with the initial condition V(0) = 0, we get

$$V(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r)dr\right] [h(\tau)k(\tau) + s(\tau)]d\tau.$$
(5.34)

Since s(t) is non-positive function, we conclude

$$V(t) \leq \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r) dr\right] h(\tau) k(\tau) d\tau.$$

From the definition of V in (5.32) and (5.29) we conclude

$$g(t) \leq \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r) dr\right] h(\tau) k(\tau) d\tau + k(\tau).$$

If $k(\tau) = k(t)$ and $0 \le \tau \le t$, then

$$g(t) \leq k(t) \left(1 + \int_{0}^{t} h(\tau) \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r) dr\right] d\tau \right) = k(t) \left(1 - \int_{0}^{t} \frac{d \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r) dr\right]}{d\tau} \right)$$
$$= k(t) \left(1 - \exp\left[\int_{\tau}^{t} h(r) dr\right]_{0}^{t} \right) = k(t) \left(1 - 1 + \exp\left[\int_{0}^{t} h(r) dr\right] \right)$$
$$= k(t) \exp\left[\int_{0}^{t} h(r) dr\right].$$

In the following Theorem, we extend the Lyapunov second method for Caputo type by using Bellman-Grönwall and Bihari's inequality.

Theorem 5 [43]: Suppose that we have the equilibrium point x = 0 if

$$^{C}D^{\sigma}x(t) = g(t,x), \ S \subset \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

is a domain containing x = 0. Suppose $V(t, x) : [0, \infty) \times S \to R$ be a continuously differentiable function such as

$$M_1(x) \le V(t, x) \le M_2(x),$$

$$^C D^{\sigma} V(t, x) \le -M_3(x).$$

(5.35)

For all $t \ge 0$ and for all $x \in S$, $0 < \sigma < 1$, where $M_1(x), M_2(x)$ and $M_3(x)$ are continuous positive definite functions on S, then, x = 0 is uniform asymptotic stable.

Proof: See [43].

Example 2 [43]: Suppose a fractional order derivative system as given bellow

$$D^{\sigma}(H(t)) = -c \operatorname{sgn}(H(t)), \ 0 < \sigma < 1, \ c > 0.$$
(5.36)

Then, we select the function

$$V(t) = \frac{1}{2} (H(t))^2, \qquad (5.37)$$

to be a Lyapunov candidate function, we have

 $\dot{x}(t) > 0 \rightarrow^{C} D^{\sigma} x(t) > 0.$

So,

$$\dot{x}(t) \le 0 \longrightarrow^{C} D^{\sigma} x(t) \le 0$$
(5.38)

Therefore, we get

$$\dot{V}(t) = H(t)\dot{H}(t)$$
(5.39)

From (5.36) it is implied that

$$\dot{H}(t) = D^{1-\sigma}(-c \operatorname{sgn}(H(t)), 0 < \sigma < 1,$$
(5.40)

If we use the signum function definition, namely

$$sgn(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if} & x > 0, \\ 0 & \text{if} & x = 0, \\ -1 & \text{if} & x < 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.41)

Then, we have

$$sgn(D^{1-\sigma}(-c sgn(H(t))) = -sgn(H(t)), \ c > 0.$$
(5.42)

Thus, we conclude that

$$\dot{V}(t) = H(t)\dot{H}(t) = H(t)D^{1-\sigma}(-c\,\mathrm{sgn}(H(t)))$$
(5.43)

Using the signum function,

$$\operatorname{sgn}(\dot{V}(t)) = \operatorname{sgn}(H(t)\dot{H}(t)) = \operatorname{sgn}(H(t))\operatorname{sgn}(D^{1-\sigma}(-c\operatorname{sgn}(H(t)))),$$
$$= -\operatorname{sgn}(H(t)\operatorname{sgn}(H(t))) = -1,$$
(5.44)

we prove that

$$\dot{V}(t) \leq 0$$
, then, $D^{\sigma}V(t) \leq 0$.

If we use the Theorem 4, we conclude

$$V(t) = \frac{1}{2} (H(t))^2 \ge 0, \text{ which implies that } D^{\sigma} V(t) \le 0.$$
 (5.45)

Therefore, the system (5.36) is stable.

5.5 Mittag-Leffler stability

Definition 3 [38]: The solution of (5.10) is Mittag-Leffler stable if

$$\|x(t)\| \le \left\{ w[x(t_0)] E_{\sigma} (-\lambda (t-t_0)^{\sigma} \right\}^c.$$
(5.46)

Whereas t_0 is the initial time, $\sigma \in (0,1)$, $\lambda \ge 0$, $c \succ 0$, w(0) = 0, $w(x) \ge 0$ and w(x) is locally Lipschitz on $x \in B \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with Lipschitz constant w_0 .

Definition 4 [38]: The solution of (5.10) is generalized Mittag-Leffler stable if

$$\|x(t)\| \le \left\{ w[x(t_0)](t-t_0)^{-\delta} E_{\sigma,1-\delta} (-\lambda(t-t_0)^{\sigma})^{c}, (5.47) \right\}$$

where t_0 is the initial time, $\sigma \in (0,1)$, $-\sigma < \delta < 1-\sigma$, $\lambda \ge 0$, c > 0, w(0) = 0, $w(x) \ge 0$ and w(x) is locally Lipschitz on $x \in B \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with Lipschitz constant w_0 .

Theorem 6 [38]: If x = 0 is an equilibrium point for (5.10), $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a domain contains the origin. Suppose that $V(t, x(t)) : [0, \infty) \times S \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally Lipschitz and continuous differentiable function depends on x such that

$$\delta_1 \|x\|^h \le V(t, x(t)) \le \delta_2 \|x\|^{hr},$$
(5.48)

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}V(t,x(t)) \leq -\delta_{3} \|x\|^{hr}.$$
(5.49)

For all $t \ge 0$ and $x \in S$, $\sigma \in (0,1)$, where $\delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3$, *h* and *r* are arbitrary positive constants, therefore x = 0 is Mittag-Leffler stable. If it is happen globally on \mathbb{R}^n , then, x = 0 is globally Mittag-Leffler stable.

Proof [38]. With the equation (5.48) and (5.49) we obtain

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}V(t,x(t)) \leq -\frac{\delta_{3}}{\delta_{2}}V(t,x(t)).$$

If there is a nonnegative function K(t) achieves

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}V(t,x(t)) + K(t) = -\frac{\delta_{3}}{\delta_{2}}V(t,x(t)).$$
(5.50)

If we take the Laplace transform of (5.50), we get

$$s^{\sigma}V(s) - V(0)s^{\sigma-1} + K(t) = -\frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2}V(s), \qquad (5.51)$$

since the nonnegative constant V(0) = V(0, x(0)) and $V(s) = \mathcal{L}\{V(t, x(t))\}$. We can understand that [38]

$$V(s) = \frac{V(0)s^{\sigma-1} - K(s)}{s^{\sigma} + \frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2}}$$

If x(0) = 0 leads to V(0) = 0, then, the solution of (5.10) is x = 0. If $x(0) \neq 0$ leads to V(0) > 0, because V(t, x) is locally Lipschitz according to x, from (Existence and uniqueness Theorem [38]), and taking the inverse Laplace transform of (5.51), we get

$$V(t) = V(0)E_{\sigma}\left(-\frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2}t^{\sigma}\right) - K(t) * \left[t^{\sigma-1}E_{\sigma,\sigma}\left(-\frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2}t^{\sigma}\right)\right].$$

Since $t^{\sigma-1}$ and $E_{\sigma,\sigma}\left(\frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2}t^{\sigma}\right)$ are nonnegative functions, then

$$V(t) \le V(0)E_{\sigma}\left(-\frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2}t^{\sigma}\right).$$
(5.52)

If we substitute (5.52) in to (5.48), we get

$$\|x(t)\| \leq \left[\frac{V(0)}{\delta_1} E_{\sigma}\left(-\frac{\delta_3}{\delta_2} t^{\sigma}\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{h}},$$

for $x(0) \neq 0$, then, $\frac{V(0)}{\delta_1} > 0$.

Suppose that $k = \frac{V(0)}{\delta_1} = \frac{V(0, x(0))}{\delta_1} \ge 0$, then, we obtain

$$\|x(t)\| \leq \left[kE_{\sigma}\left(-\frac{\delta_{3}}{\delta_{2}}t^{\sigma}\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{h}}.$$

Here it can said that k = 0 holds if and only if x(0) = 0. Because V(t, x) is locally Lipschitz according to x and V(0, x(0)) = 0 if and only if x(0) = 0. Therefore $k = \frac{V(0, x(0))}{\delta_1}$ is also Lipschitz according to x(0) and k(0) = 0, meaning that the

system (5.10) is Mittag-Leffler stable.

Example 3 [38]: Suppose we have the following system

$$_{0}D_{t}^{\sigma}|g(t)| = -|g(t)|,$$
 (5.53)

in which $\sigma \in (0,1)$. Let us consider the function candidate Lipschitz V(t,g) = |g|. By Lemma 2 we have

$${}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}V = {}_{0}^{C}D_{t}^{\sigma}|g| \leq {}_{0}D_{t}^{\sigma}|g| = {}_{0}D_{t}^{\sigma}V \leq -|g|.$$
(5.54)

Let $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = 1$ and $\sigma_3 = -1$, if we apply the Theorem 6, we obtain

$$|g(t)| \leq |g(0)| E_{\sigma}(-t^{\sigma}).$$

This implies that the system (5.53) is Mittag-Leffler stable.

5.6 Lyapunov-Krasovskii stability theory with time-delay

Through this part we study the stability of fractional order time-delay nonlinear systems by using the Lyapunov–Krasovskii theory. The definition of time delay can be as time interval of an event starting in one point to another point in the output within the system, which can occur in several areas, especially in chemical, biological, physical and economic systems, in addition in the processes of computation and measurement [52]. The existence of a Lyapunov–Krasovskii functional is a necessary as well as sufficient condition for the globally exponential stability and the uniform globally asymptotically stability of autonomous systems [52].

5.6.1 Nonlinear time-delay systems

Let us consider a Caputo fractional time-delay nonlinear system [42], namely

$${}_{t_0}^C D_t^\sigma x(t) = g(t, x_t).$$
(5.55)

Whereas $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $0 < \sigma < 1$ and $g: \mathbb{R} \times U \to \mathbb{R}^n$, so, to achieve the evolution of the state, we can determine the initial case variables x(t) in the interval of a time of length l, starting from $t_0 - l$ to t_0 , such that [42]

$$x_{t_0} = \varphi. \tag{5.56}$$

Here $\varphi \in U$, and $x(t_0 + \theta) = \varphi(\theta)$, $-l \le \theta \le 0$.

To explain the next definitions, let $U([h, k], R^n)$ be the set of continuous functions mapping the interval [h, k] to R^n . If we want to identify l as a maximum time delay of a system, we can define the set of continuous closed interval function mapping [-l,0] to R^n . Let $U = U([-l,0], R^n)$. For every B > 0 and a continuous function $\Psi \in U([t_0 - l, t_0 + B], R^n)$, for $t_0 \le t \le t_0 + B$, let $\Psi_t \in U$ be a part of function Ψ and the definition $\Psi_t(\theta) = \Psi_t(t + \theta), -l \le \theta \le 0$.

Definition 5 [52]: Let $\varphi \in U([h, k], \mathbb{R}^n)$, the uniform norm of φ can be defined as

$$\left\|\varphi\right\|_{U} = \max_{h \le \theta \le k} \left\|\varphi(\theta)\right\|.$$
(5.57)

Definition 6 [52]: Suppose the time-delay system (5.55), therefore the solution at x(0) = 0 can be:

1. Stable, if for every $t_0 \ge 0$, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta = \delta(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$ that achieves [52]

$$\|x(t_0)\|_c \le \delta \to \|x(t)\| \le \varepsilon, \text{ if } t \ge t_0.$$
(5.58)

2. Attractive, if for every $t_0 \ge 0$ and $\arg \varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta_h = \delta_h(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$ that achieves the property [52]

$$\left\|x(t_0)\right\|_U \le \delta_h \to \lim_{t \to \infty} \left\|x(t)\right\| = 0.$$

(5.59)

- 3. Asymptotic stable, since it is stable as well as attractive [52].
- 4. Uniformly stable, in addition, it is stable, and $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ can be selected in an independent form of t_0 [52].

- 5. Uniformly asymptotic stable, in addition to it is uniform stability, there is a $\delta_0 > 0$ and function $\delta(\varepsilon)$, $T(\varepsilon)$ as $||x_{t_0}|| < \delta_0$ and $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$ for $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ [52].
- 6. Globally uniformly asymptotic stable, in addition to the fact that it is uniformly asymptotically stable, so, δ_0 can be finite number and arbitrary large [52].
- 7. Exponentially stable, if there are $\delta, \sigma > 0$ and $\mu \ge 1$ such that [52]

$$\|x(t_0)\|_U \le \delta \to \|x(t)\| \le \mu e^{-\sigma t} \|x_0\|.$$
 (5.60)

5.6.2 Lyapunov-Krasovskii stability theorem

Before we begin to prove the theorem, it is better to mention that if $V(t, \varphi)$ is a differentiable function, we can suppose that $x_t(\tau, \varphi)$ is the solution of (5.55) at the time *t* with initial condition $x_t = \varphi$. We can define the Caputo derivative of the function $V(t, x_t)$ according to *t* and evaluate it at $t = \tau$, for $0 \prec \sigma \prec 1$, then, we get [42]

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} V(\tau, \varphi) = {}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} V(t, x_t(\tau, \varphi) \Big|_{t=\tau, x_t=\varphi} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^t \frac{V'(s, x_s)}{(t-s)^{\sigma}} ds \Big|_{t=\tau, x_t=\varphi}.$$
 (5.61)

The requirement for the time-delay system of the state at time *t* can be the value of x(t) in the interval [t-l,t], and the Lyapunov function $V(t, x_t)$ depending on x_t [42].

Theorem 7 [42]: Let $g: R \times U \to R$ in (5.19) maps $R \times ($ bounded sets in U) to be bounded sets in R^n , and $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3: \overline{R}_+ \to \overline{R}_+$ are continuous non-decreasing functions, where additionally $\rho_1(s), \rho_2(s)$ are positive for s > 0 and $\rho_1(0) = \rho_2(0) = 0$, there is a continuous differentiable function $V: R \times S_\alpha \to R$, where $S_\alpha = \{ \varphi \in U : \|\varphi\|_U < \alpha \}$, then,

$$\rho_1(\left\|\varphi(0)\right\|) \le V(t,\varphi) \le \rho_2(\left\|\varphi\right\|_U), \tag{5.62}$$

$$\int_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} V(t, \varphi) \le -\rho_3 (\|\varphi(0)\|). \quad 0 < \sigma < 1.$$
(5.63)

Therefore, the system (5.55) is uniformly stable, whereas if $\rho_3(s) > 0$ for (s) > 0then, it is uniformly asymptotic stable. Moreover, if $\lim_{s\to\infty} \rho_1(s) = \infty$, therefore, it is globally uniformly asymptotic stable. **Proof [42]:** Since ρ_2 is continuous and $\rho_2(0) = 0$. Let us say that $\varepsilon \succ 0$ we can find a sufficiently small $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$, such that $\rho_2(\delta) < \rho_1(\varepsilon)$. It is important to note that for any initial time t_0 and any initial condition $x_{t_0} = \varphi$ with $\|\varphi\|_h < \delta$, we have $\int_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} V(t, x_t) \le 0$ and from property 4, $V(t, x_t) \le V(t_0, \varphi)$, for eny $t \ge t_0$. This means that

$$\rho_1(\|\boldsymbol{x}(t)\|) \leq V(t, \boldsymbol{x}_t) \leq V(t_0, \varphi) \leq \rho_2(\|\varphi\|_h) \leq \rho_2(\delta) < \rho_1(\varepsilon),$$
(5.64)

where $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ for $t \ge t_0$. Then the system (5.55) is uniform stable. To prove that the system being uniform asymptotic stable, suppose that $0 < \varepsilon < \alpha$ and $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ correspond to uniform stability, select $\varepsilon_0 \le \alpha$ and appointed by $\delta_0 = \delta(\varepsilon_0) > 0$ and fixed ε_0 . Now, we choose $||x_{t_0}|| \le \delta_0$ and

$$T(\varepsilon) = \left[\frac{\rho_2(\delta_0)}{\rho_3(\delta(\varepsilon))}\Gamma(1+\sigma)\right]^{\frac{1}{\sigma}}, \text{ thus } \delta(\varepsilon) \text{ corresponds to uniform stability, consider}$$
$$\left\|x_{t_0}\right\| \le \delta_0 \text{ , if we have } \|x(t)\| \ge \delta(\varepsilon) \text{ for all } t \ge t_0 \text{ , then}$$
$$-\rho_3(\|x(t)\|) \le -\rho_3(\delta(\varepsilon)). \tag{5.65}$$

In addition we have

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} V(t, \varphi) \le -\rho_3(\delta(\varepsilon)), \text{ for } t \ge t_0 .$$
(5.66)

Then, by properties 2 and 3 we get

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} \left(V(t, x_t) + \rho_3(\delta(\varepsilon)) \frac{(t - t_0)^{\sigma}}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma)} \right) \le 0.$$
(5.67)

If we use the property 4, we conclude

$$V(t, x_t) + \rho_3(\delta(\varepsilon)) \frac{(t - t_0)^{\sigma}}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma)} \le V(t_0, \varphi).$$
(5.68)

So, we have

$$V(t, x_{t}) \leq V(t_{0}, \varphi) - \rho_{3}(\delta(\varepsilon)) \frac{(t - t_{0})^{\sigma}}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma)}$$
$$\leq \rho_{2} \left(\left\| \varphi \right\|_{h} \right) - \rho_{3}(\delta(\varepsilon)) \frac{(t - t_{0})^{\sigma}}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma)}$$
$$\leq \rho_{2} \left(\delta_{0} \right) - \rho_{3}(\delta(\varepsilon)) \frac{(t - t_{0})^{\sigma}}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma)}.$$
(5.69)

If for any $t = t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$, we get

$$0 \prec \rho_1(\delta(\varepsilon)) \leq V(t_0 + T, x_{t_0 + T}) \leq \rho_2(\delta_0) - \frac{\rho_3(\delta(\varepsilon))}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma)} T^{\sigma} = 0.$$
(5.70)

This contradiction proves that there is a $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T(\varepsilon)]$, $||x(t_1)|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$. We have $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ and $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$, when $||x_{t_0}|| < \delta_0$, so, the system (5.55) is uniform asymptotic stable.

To prove globally, let us suppose $\lim_{s\to\infty} \rho_1(s) = \infty$, then, δ_0 that we selected is arbitrary large, so, we choose ε after δ_0 that can satisfy $\rho_2(\delta_0) < \rho_1(\varepsilon)$. Thus we can conclude that the system is globally uniform asymptotic stable.

CHAPTER 6

APPLICATIONS OF LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY

This chapter reviews the Lyapunov direct method and shows the stability properties of mathematical models in biology using the fractional order systems.

6.1 Finding the Lyapunov candidate

In this section we show a new Lemma to achieve the stability of fractional derivatives by quadratic Lyapunov functions in the sense of Caputo when $0 < \sigma < 1$. This new Lemma helps to prove the stability of the diseases equilibrium in fractional-order, for example, epidemic systems [41,60].

Lemma 1 [41]: Let us consider $x(t) \in R$ is a continuously differentiable function. If for every time instant $t \ge t_0$ we conclude that

$$\frac{1}{2^{t_0}} D_t^{\sigma} x^2(t) \le x(t)_{t_0}^{c} D_t^{\sigma} x(t), \ \forall \sigma \in (0,1).$$
(6.1)

Proof [41]: Suppose that expression (6.1) is true, so, it is equivalent to prove that,

$$x(t)_{t_0}^{\ C} D_t^{\ \sigma} x(t) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{C}{t_0} D_t^{\ \sigma} x^2(t) \ge 0 \ , \ \forall \ \sigma \in (0,1).$$
(6.2)

Using the definition of Caputo fractional derivative (5.4)

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{\dot{x}(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} d\tau,$$
(6.3)

and in the same way we conclude

$$\frac{1}{2}{}^{C}_{t_{0}}D^{\sigma}_{t}x^{2}(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)}\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\frac{x(\tau)\dot{x}(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}}d\tau.$$
(6.4)

So, the expression (6.4) is defined as

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^t \frac{[x(t)-x(\tau)]\dot{x}(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} d\tau \ge 0.$$
(6.5)

If we define the auxiliary variable $g(\tau) = x(t) - x(\tau)$, meaning that

$$g'(\tau) = \frac{dg(\tau)}{d\tau} = -\frac{dx(\tau)}{d\tau},$$

then, the expression (6.5) becomes

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{g(\tau)g'(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} d\tau \le 0.$$
(6.6)

Here we apply the integration by parts on expression (6.6). So, we get [41]

$$du = g(\tau)g'(\tau)d\tau , \qquad u = \frac{1}{2}g^2,$$
$$v = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)}(t-\tau)^{-\sigma}, \quad dv = \frac{\sigma}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)}(t-\tau)^{-\sigma-1}, \text{ respectively}$$

In that way, the expression (6.6) is defined as:

$$-\left[\frac{g^{2}(\tau)}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)(t-\tau)^{\sigma}}\right]_{\tau=t} + \left[\frac{g_{0}^{2}}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)(t-t_{0})^{\sigma}}\right] + \frac{\sigma}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)}\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\frac{g^{2}(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma+1}}d\tau \ge 0.$$
(6.7)

If we check the first term of expression (6.7), which has an indetermination at $\tau = t$. Let us analyze the corresponding limit, namely

$$\lim_{\tau \to t} \frac{g^{2}(\tau)}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} = \frac{1}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\tau \to t} \frac{[x(t) - x(\tau)]^{2}}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} = \frac{1}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\tau \to t} \frac{[x^{2}(t) - 2x(t)x(\tau) + x^{2}(\tau)]}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} .$$
(6.8)

Given that the function is derivable, L'Hopital's rule can be applied, then [41]:

$$\frac{1}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\tau \to t} \frac{\left[x^{2}(t) - 2x(t)x(\tau) + x^{2}(\tau)\right]}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma}} \\
= \frac{1}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\tau \to t} \frac{\left[-2x(t)\dot{x}(\tau) + 2x(\tau) + \dot{x}(\tau)\right]}{-\sigma(t-\tau)^{\sigma-1}} \\
= \frac{1}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\tau \to t} \frac{\left[2x(t)\dot{x}(\tau) - 2x(\tau)\dot{x}(\tau)\right](t-\tau)^{1-\sigma}}{\sigma} = 0.$$
(6.9)

So, the expression (6.7) is reduced to [41]

$$\frac{g_0^2}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)(t-t_0)^{\sigma}} + \frac{\sigma}{2\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^t \frac{g^2(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\sigma+1}} d\tau \ge 0.$$

(6.10)

Expression (6.10) is clearly true, and this concludes the proof [41].

Example 1 [41]: Suppose the fractional order nonlinear system with $0 < \sigma < 1$,

$${}^{C}_{0}D^{\sigma}_{t}z(t) = -z(t) + y^{3}(t),$$

$${}^{C}_{0}D^{\sigma}_{t}y(t) = -z(t) - y(t).$$
(6.11)

We choose the Lyapunov candidate function as

$$V(z(t), y(t)) = \frac{1}{2}z^{2}(t) + \frac{1}{4}y^{4}(t).$$
(6.12)

So, applying the Lemma 1, we conclude that

If we notice (6.13) we can prove that the fractional derivative of Lyapunov function is *negative definite* function. Then, the system (6.11) is asymptotically stable.

6.2 Fractional-order gene regulatory networks

In this section we present the fractional-order gene regulatory networks and we check the global Mittag-Lefler stability as well as the global generalized Mittag-Lefler stability. The mechanism improved to regulate the expression of genes is called the gene regulatory networks [58].

A gene regulatory network includes a number of genes that can regulate the expression of every gene by proteins. Changes of these genes are governed by the translational processes and stimulation of proteins in transcriptional [58].

We consider fractional–order gene regulatory networks [58]

$$\begin{cases} D^{\sigma} y_{i}(t) = -e_{i} y_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{ij} g_{i}(p_{j}(t)) + A_{i} \\ D^{\sigma} p_{i}(t) = -r_{i} p_{i}(t) + l_{i} y_{i}(t), i = 1, 2, ..., n. \end{cases}$$
(6.14)

If $\sigma \in (0,1)$, $y_i(t), p_i(t) \in R$ are the concentrations of messenger regulatory network acid (mRNA : is a transcription of prokaryotic protein-coding genes making messenger RNA ready to moves into protein), where the protein of the *ith* is node, and e_i , r_i are the vanish rates of mRNA and the protein, when $l_i > 0$ is the translation rate, such that

$$g_i(x) = \left(\frac{x}{\mu_j}\right)^{G_j} / \left[1 + \left(\frac{x}{\mu_j}\right)^{G_j}\right],$$

This function can be monotonically increasing function and G_j is the Hill coefficients, μ_j is the positive constant $A_i = \sum_{j \in I_i} a_{ij}$, a_{ij} are bounded constant, and I_i can be the set of all *j* that is a repressor of gene *i*. We have the matrix $K = (k_{ij}) \in R^{n \times n}$ which is the coupling matrix of the gene network, defined as [58]

$$k_{ij} = \begin{cases} a_{ij}, & \text{if reproduction factor } j \text{ is an animator of gene } i, \\ -a_{ij}, & \text{if reproduction factor } j \text{ is an repressor of gene } i, \\ 0, & \text{if there is no link from node } j \text{ to } i. \end{cases}$$

One gene or mRNA y_i is generally activated by multiple proteins $p = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_n)^T$ in the transcription process for (6.14) [58].

Definition 1 [58]: The vectors $y^* = (y_1^*, ..., y_n^*)^T$, $p^* = (p_1^*, ..., p_n^*)^T$ is an equilibrium point of fractional gene regulatory networks (FGRNs) if and only if [58]:

$$\begin{cases} -e_i y_i^* + \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij} g_i(p_j^*) + A_i = 0, \\ -r_i p_i^* + l_i y_i(t) = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n. \end{cases}$$
(6.15)

To prove the theorems of global Mittag-Lefller stability and global generalized Mittag-Lefller stability of an equilibrium point for (6.14), we should present the next Lemma.

Lemma 2 [58]: Suppose V(t) be a continuous function on $[0, \infty)$ and satisfies $D^{\sigma}V(t) \leq -\rho V(t).$

Let $\sigma \in (0,1)$ and ρ is a constant, then

$$V(t) = V(0)E_{\sigma}(-\rho t^{\sigma}), \ t \ge 0.$$

Definition 2 [58]: If there are positive constants μ_i (i = 1, 2, ..., 2n), then, we have

$$\begin{cases} \delta_{i} = e_{i} - \frac{\mu_{n+i}}{\mu_{i}} l_{i} > 0, \\ \delta_{n+i} = r_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\mu_{i}}{\mu_{n+i}} |w_{ji}| k_{i} > 0. \end{cases}$$

$$i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(6.16)

Here we shift the equilibrium point $(y^{*^{T}}, p^{*^{T}})^{T}$ of fractional gene regulatory networks in (6.14) to the origin, by using [58]:

$$u_i(t) = y_i(t) - y_i^*, \quad v_i(t) = p_i(t) - p_i^*, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n$$

Then, fractional gene regulatory networks in (6.14) can be transformed as

$$\begin{cases} D^{\sigma}u_{i}(t) = -e_{i}u_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n}k_{ij}g_{j}(v_{j}(t)) \\ D^{\sigma}v_{i}(t) = -r_{i}v_{i}(t) + l_{i}u_{i}(t), i = 1, 2, ..., n. \end{cases}$$
(6.17)

Here $g_j(v_j(t)) = f_j(v_j(t) + p_j^*) - f_i(p_j^*).$

The above Lemma is useful to prove the next Theorem

Theorem 1 [58]: Assume that definition 2 holds, then, the fractional gene regulatory networks of (6.14) is globally Mittag-Leffler stable.

Proof [58]: Ler construct the function V(t) as

$$V(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i |u_i(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} |v_i(t)|.$$

From [66] we had $D^{\sigma}|u_i(t)| = \operatorname{sgn}(u_i(t))D^{\sigma}u_i(t)$.

Taking the fractional order derivative of V(t) along the solution of (6.17), we get

$$\begin{split} D^{\sigma}V(t) &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} D^{\sigma} |u_{i}(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} D^{\sigma} |v_{i}(t)| \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \operatorname{sgn}(u_{i}(t)) \Biggl\{ -e_{i}u_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{ij}f_{j}(v_{j}(t)) \Biggr\} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} \operatorname{sgn}(v_{i}(t)) \Biggl\{ -r_{i}(v_{i}(t)) + l_{i}u_{i}(t) \Biggr\} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \Biggl\{ -e_{i} |u_{i}(t)| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |k_{ij}| w_{j} |(v_{j}(t))| \Biggr\} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} \Biggl\{ -r_{i} |v_{i}(t)| + l_{i} |u_{i}(t)| \Biggr\} \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \Biggl\{ \mu_{i}e_{i} |u_{i}(t)| - \mu_{n+i}l_{i} |u_{i}(t)| \Biggr\} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Biggl\{ \mu_{n+i}r_{i} |v_{i}(t)| - \sum_{j=1}^{n} |k_{ji}| w_{i} |v_{i}(t)| \Biggr\} \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} \Biggl\{ e_{i} - \frac{\mu_{n+i}}{\mu_{i}} l_{i} \Biggr\} u_{i}(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} \Biggl\{ r_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\mu_{j}}{\mu_{n+i}} |k_{ji}| w_{i} \Biggr\} v_{i}(t) \Biggr\} \\ &= -\rho \Biggl[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} |u_{i}(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} |v_{i}(t)| \Biggr] \\ &\leq -\rho \Biggl[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{i} |u_{i}(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{n+i} |v_{i}(t)| \Biggr] \end{aligned}$$

According to Lemma 2, where $\rho = \min_{1 \le i \le n} \{\rho_i, \rho_{n+i}\}, D^{\sigma}V(t) \le -\rho V(t)$. Which means that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| y_{i}(t) - y_{i}^{*} \right| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| p_{i}(t) - p_{i}^{*} \right| \leq \frac{\mu_{\max}}{\mu_{\min}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| y_{i}(0) - y_{i}^{*} \right| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| p_{i}(0) - p_{i}^{*} \right| \right) E_{\sigma}(-\rho t^{\sigma}),$$

therefore,

$$||y(t) - y^*|| + ||p(t) - p^*|| \le Y(||y_0 - y^*|| + ||p_0 - p^*||) E_{\sigma}(-\rho t^{\sigma}), \text{ for } t \ge 0.$$

Here $Y = \frac{\mu_{max}}{\mu_{min}}$. So, the fractional gene regulatory networks of (6.14) is globally

Mittag-Leffler stable.

Before proving the generalized Mittag-Leffler stability of the system (6.14), we should define the next Lemma.

Lemma 3 [58]: Suppose V(t) is a continuous function on $[0,\infty)$ satisfying

$$D^{\sigma}V(t) \leq \theta V(t),$$

and $0 < \sigma < 1$, where θ is a constant, then, there exist constant t_1 and γ achieve

$$V(t) \leq V(0)t^{-\gamma} E_{\sigma, 1-\gamma}(\theta t^{\sigma}), \ t \geq t_1$$

Proof [58]: We find a nonnegative function Y(t) such that

$$D^{\sigma}V(t) + Y(t) \le \theta V(t) . \tag{6.18}$$

Here we take the Laplace transform of (6.18) and we have

$$s^{\sigma}V(s) - V(0)s^{\sigma-1} + Y(s) = \theta V(s).$$

Since $V(s) = \mathcal{L}{V(t)}$ and $Y(s) = \mathcal{L}{Y(t)}$,

let

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{\widetilde{Y}(t)\right\} = \widetilde{y}(s) = Y(s) - V(0)s^{\sigma-1} + V(0)s^{\sigma-\tilde{\sigma}}, \text{ where } \widetilde{\sigma} \in [\sigma, 1+\sigma]. \text{ We obtain that}$$

$$V(s) = \frac{V(0)s^{\sigma - \theta} - Y(s)}{s^{\sigma - \theta}} = \frac{V(0)s^{\sigma - \theta}}{s^{\sigma} - \theta}$$

If we use the inverse Laplace transform, then, the solution of (6.18) become

$$V(t) = V(0)t^{\tilde{\sigma}^{-1}}E_{\sigma,\tilde{\sigma}}(\theta t^{\sigma}) - \tilde{Y}(t) * \left[t^{\sigma^{-1}}E_{\sigma,\sigma}(\theta t^{\sigma})\right],$$

where * is a convolution operation and [58]

$$\widetilde{Y}(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(\widetilde{Y}(s) = Y(t) - V(0) \frac{t^{-\sigma}}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} + V(0) \frac{t^{\widetilde{\sigma}-\sigma-1}}{\Gamma(\widetilde{\sigma}-\sigma)}$$

Since $t^{\sigma-1}$ and $E_{\sigma,\sigma}(\theta t^{\sigma})$ are nonnegative functions [67], it follows from $\sigma \in (0,1)$ when $\varepsilon > 0$ and $t_1 > 0$ that [58]

$$\left[\frac{t^{\tilde{\sigma}-\sigma-1}}{\Gamma(\tilde{\sigma}-\sigma)} - \frac{t^{-\sigma}}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)}\right] * \left[t^{\sigma-1}E_{\sigma,\sigma}(\theta t^{\sigma})\right] \ge 0, \qquad (6.19)$$

for all $t \ge t_1$ and $\tilde{\sigma} \in (1 + \sigma - \varepsilon, 1 + \sigma)$. Therefore,

$$\widetilde{Y}(t) * \left[t^{\sigma - 1} E_{\sigma, \sigma}(\theta t^{\sigma}) \right] \ge 0,$$

for all $t \ge t_1$ and $\tilde{\sigma} \in (1 + \sigma - \varepsilon, 1 + \sigma)$, since

$$V(t) = V(0)t^{\tilde{\sigma}^{-1}} E_{\sigma,\tilde{\sigma}}(\theta t^{\sigma}) - \tilde{Y}(t) * t^{\sigma^{-1}} E_{\sigma,\sigma}(\theta t^{\sigma}).$$

Here, we obtain

$$V(t) \le V(0)t^{\tilde{\sigma}-1}E_{\sigma,\tilde{\sigma}}(\theta t^{\sigma})$$

for all $t \ge t_1$ and $\tilde{\sigma} \in (1 + \sigma - \varepsilon, 1 + \sigma)$, let $\tilde{\sigma} - 1 = -\gamma$, then, we get [58]

$$V(t) \leq V(0)t^{-\gamma} E_{\sigma,1-\gamma}(\theta t^{\sigma}).$$

Theorem 2 [58]: Assume that the Definition 2 holding, the view that there is a constant t_1 such that fractional gene regulatory networks (6.14) is globally generalized Mittag-Leffler stable, for $t \ge t_1$.

Proof: See [58].

6.3 Stabilization of continuous-time fractional systems

Through this section we explain the stabilization of continuous-time fractional for positive linear systems.

1- Stability

Let us consider a linear fractional order continuous time system [59], namely

$$D^{\sigma}g(t) = Bg(t). \tag{6.20}$$

Let $0 < \sigma \le 1$, $g_0 \ge 0$, suppose *B* is Metzler matrix.

Definition 3 [59]: A matrix $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is named the Metzler if all of its off-diagonal entries are nonnegative i.e. $B = [bij] \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, $bij \ge 0, i \ne j$.

Lemma 4 [59]: We can say that the continuous-time fractional system (6.20) is positive if and only if *B* is a Metzler matrix.

Proposition 1 [59]: The function $V(g(t)) = \rho^T g(t)$, $\rho > 0$ is a Lyapunov function for the positive system (6.20) if and only if

$$\rho^T B < 0. \tag{6.21}$$

Proof [59]:

Necessity: *B* is a Metzler matrix, then, by Lemma 4, the system is positive, it means that $g(t) \ge 0$, to prove the necessity condition. Suppose that $V(g(t)) = \rho^T g(t)$, $\rho > 0$, is a Lyapunov function for the system (6.20), $D^{\sigma}V(g(t))$ can be *negative definite*. Taking the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative with respect to (6.20), then we get

$$D^{\sigma}V(g(t)) = {}^{C}D^{\sigma}V(t) + \frac{V(0)}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)t^{\sigma}}$$
$$= \rho^{T}({}^{C}D^{\sigma})g(t) + \frac{\rho^{T}g_{0}}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)t^{\sigma}}$$

$$= \rho^T \left[(^C D^\sigma) g(t) + \frac{g_0}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)t^\sigma} \right] = \rho^T D^\sigma g(t) = \rho^T B g(t) < 0.$$

This means that $\rho^T B < 0$.

Sufficiency: We assume that the condition (6.21) is true. Suppose now the function $V(g(t)) = \rho^T g(t)$ is *positive definite*, we compute its fractional derivative by the same way in the necessity part of the proof, since $D^{\sigma}V(g(t)) = \rho^T Bg(t)$. It follows that $D^{\sigma}V(g(t)) < 0$, then, by Theorem 1 in chapter 5, the function $V(g(t)) = \rho^T g(t)$ is the Lyapunov function of the system (6.20).

2- Stabilizability

Suppose a linear fractional order continuous time system

$$D^{\sigma}g(t) = Hg(t) + Bu(t). \tag{6.22}$$

Let $0 < \sigma \le 1$, $g \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $g(0) = g_0 \ge 0$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and *B* is Metzler matrix. If we use a state feedback control u(t) = Kg(t), then, we get the closed-loop system as follows

$$D^{\sigma}g(t) = (H + BK)g(t),$$
 (6.23)

where $0 < \sigma \le 1$, $g(0) = g_0 \ge 0$.

Theorem 3 [59]: If we find a positive vector $\rho \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and vectors $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n \in \mathbb{R}^m$, then

$$G\rho + B\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i < 0,$$
 (6.24)

$$h_{ij}\rho_j + b_i x_j \ge 0. \quad i \ne j \tag{6.25}$$

Whereas h_{ij} denotes the element (*ij*) of the matrix *G* and b_i are the raw vectors of *B*, then (6.23) is asymptotic stable by remaining the state non negative $\forall g_0 \ge 0$.

Proof: See [59].

Example 2 [59]: Consider a fractional continuous time system

$$D^{\sigma}g(t) = Gg(t) + Hy(t), \qquad (6.26)$$

with $0 < \sigma \le 1$, $g(0) = g_0 \ge 0$ and $\sigma = 0.5$. If we have the following system matrices:

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -0.5 \\ -0.3 & -0.5 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad H = \begin{bmatrix} 0.4 \\ 0.2 \end{bmatrix},$$

we can see in the matrix G, the open-loop system is not positive, because there are off-diagonal negative elements in G. We can design a case feedback controller u = Kg, to stabilized the system and make the closed-loop cases nonnegative. We take as [59]

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} 1.5707 & 1.5459 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, by multiply H with K, we get the closed-loop for the new matrix

$$G + HK = G_C = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3717 & 0.1184 \\ 0.0141 & -0.1908 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Thus, the matrix G_c is Metzler, and the eigenvalues of the matrix G_c are $\{-0.3805 - 0.1820\}$. By Theorem 3, the system (6.26) is asymptotic stable [59].

6.4 The epidemic systems

In this section we present a Lemma which estimates the fractional derivatives of Volterra-type Lyapunov functions and study the uniform asymptotic stability in the Caputo's sense if $\sigma \in (0,1)$. this result is used in Caputo-type epidemic systems. The epidemic systems are the Susceptible Infected Recovered (SIR), Susceptible Infected Susceptible (SIS), Susceptible Infected Recovered-Susceptible (SIRS) and Ross Macdonald models for vector-borne diseases; consequently, if the basic reproductive number is greater than one, then, we can say that the unique endemic equilibrium is uniformly asymptotically stable [60].

Lemma 5 [60]: Suppose that $y(t) \in R^+$ be a derivable and continuous function. So, for each time instant $t \ge t_0$

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} \left[y(t) - y^* - y^* \ln \frac{y(t)}{y^*} \right] \le \left(1 - \frac{y^*}{y(t)} \right) {}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t), \ y^* \in \mathbb{R}^+, \forall \sigma \in (0,1).$$
(6.27)

Proof [60]: By direct calculation we conclude

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t) - {}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y^* - y^* {}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} \left[\ln \frac{y(t)}{y^*} \right] \le \left(\frac{y(t) - y^*}{y(t)} \right) {}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t) .$$
(6.28)

Here we apply the property 3 in (5.22), then, we conclude

$$y(t)_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t) - y^* y(t)_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} \left[\ln \frac{y(t)}{y^*} \right] \leq \left(y(t) - y^* \right)_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t) .$$
(6.29)

Rewriting the inequality (6.29), we conclude

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t) - y(t) {}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} \left[\ln \frac{y(t)}{y^*} \right] \le 0.$$
(6.30)

Using the Caputo fractional derivative in (5.4), so, we can write that as [60]

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} y(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{\dot{y}(\mu)}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma}} d\mu.$$
(6.31)

In the same way we conclude [60]

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\sigma} \left[\ln \frac{y(t)}{y^*} \right] = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{1}{y(\mu)} \frac{\dot{y}(\mu)}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma}} d\mu.$$
(6.32)

So, we can write the inequality (6.30), namely

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^t \left[\frac{y(\mu) - y(t)}{y(\mu)} \right] \frac{\dot{y}(\mu)}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma}} d\mu \le 0.$$
(6.33)

Now, define the auxiliary variable $W(\mu) = \frac{y(\mu) - y(t)}{y(t)}$, which means that

$$\dot{W}(\mu) = \frac{\dot{y}(\mu)}{y(t)}$$
. In this way, the inequality (6.33) becomes [60]

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^t y(t) \left(1 - \frac{1}{W(\mu) + 1} \right) \frac{\dot{W}(\mu)}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma}} d\mu \le 0.$$

If we integrate the last integral by parts, we can get [60]

$$v = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} (t-\mu)^{-\sigma} , \qquad dv = \frac{\sigma}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} (t-\mu)^{-\sigma-1} ,$$
$$du = y(t) \left(1 - \frac{1}{W(\mu) + 1} \right) \dot{W}(\mu) d\mu , \qquad u = y(t) (W(\mu) - \ln(W(\mu) + 1)) .$$

We have the followings [60]

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} y(t) \left(1 - \frac{1}{W(\mu)} \right) \frac{\dot{W}(\mu)}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma}} d\mu = \left[\frac{y(t)(W(\mu) - \ln(W(\mu) + 1))}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)(t-\mu)^{\sigma}} \right]_{\mu=t} - \left[\frac{y(t)(W(t_0) - \ln(W(t_0) + 1))}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)(t-t_0)^{\sigma}} \right] - \frac{\sigma}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{y(t)(W(\mu) - \ln(W(\mu) + 1))}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma+1}} d\mu \le 0.$$
(6.34)

We notice that the first part of (6.34) is an indetermination at $\mu = t$.

Now we analyze the corresponding limit [60]

$$\lim_{\mu \to t} \frac{y(t)(W(\mu) - \ln(W(\mu) + 1))}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)(t - \mu)^{\sigma}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)} \lim_{\mu \to t} \frac{y(t)(W(\mu) - \ln(W(\mu) + 1))}{(t - \mu)^{\sigma}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)} \lim_{\mu \to t} \frac{\left[y(\mu) - y(t) - y(t)\ln\frac{y(\mu)}{y(t)}\right]}{(t - \mu)^{\sigma}}.$$

Now, let us use L'Hopital's rule for the limit, differentiating both the numerator and the denomonator, we can obtain [60]

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\mu \to t} \frac{\left[y(\mu) - y(t) - y(t) \ln \frac{y(\mu)}{y(t)} \right]}{(t-\mu)^{\sigma}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\mu \to t} \frac{\left[1 - \frac{y(t)}{y(\mu)} \right] \dot{y}(\mu)}{\sigma(t-\mu)^{\sigma-1}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)} \lim_{\mu \to t} \left[\frac{(t-\mu)^{1-\sigma}}{\sigma} \left(1 - \frac{y(t)}{y(\mu)} \right) \dot{y}(\mu) \right] = 0.$$

So, the inequality (6.34) is reduced to [60]

$$-\left[\frac{y(t)(W(t_0) - \ln(W(t_0) + 1))}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)(t - t_0)^{\sigma}}\right] - \frac{\sigma}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)} \int_{t_0}^t \frac{y(t)(W(\mu) - \ln(W(\mu) + 1))}{(t - \mu)^{\sigma + 1}} d\mu \le 0,$$

or equivalenty

$$-\left[\frac{y(t_0) - y(t) - y(t) \ln \frac{y(t_0)}{y(t)}}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)(t - \mu)^{\sigma}}\right] - \frac{\sigma}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma)} \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{y(\mu) - y(t) - y(t) \ln \frac{y(\mu)}{y(t)}}{(t - \mu)^{\sigma + 1}} d\mu \le 0. \quad (6.35)$$

It is easy to see that the inequality (6.35) is true, and this concludes the proof.

Now, we review an example using this Lemma to investigate the stability of some fractional-order differential equation models of infectious diseases.

Example 3 [60]: The differential equations for Susceptible-Infected-Susceptible model are

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \Lambda - \frac{\sigma xy}{x+y} - \beta x + \delta y,$$

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \frac{\sigma xy}{x+y} - (\alpha + \beta + \delta) y.$$
(6.36)

Let x be the number of susceptible individuals and y be the number of infected individuals. Since the parameters and the initial conditions are positive values. If we refer to the feasible region of (6.36) by

$$\Omega = \left\{ (x, y) \in R_{0+}^2 : x \ge 0, y \ge 0, x + y \le \frac{\Lambda}{\beta} \right\},\$$

and

$$R_{0+}^2 = \{(x, y) \in R^2 : x \ge 0, y \ge 0\}.$$

If the system (6.36) has a basic reproductive number given by [60]

$$R_0 = \frac{\sigma}{\alpha + \beta + \delta}.$$

Consequently, the system (6.36) has a disease-free (non-negative boundary) equilibrium $(\frac{\Lambda}{\beta}, 0)$, and an endemic equilibrium is (x^*, y^*) when $R_0 > 0$. Therefore [60],

$$x^{*} = \frac{\Lambda}{\beta + (\alpha + \beta)(R_{0} - 1)}, \qquad y^{*} = \frac{(R_{0} - 1)\Lambda}{\beta + (\alpha + \beta)(R_{0} - 1)}.$$
(6.37)

So, the integer order system (6.36) is asymptotic stable in the interior of the feasible region Ω , when the basic reproductive number $R_0 > 1$, then, we have a unique endemic equilibrium (x^*, y^*) . Note that if (x^*, y^*) is asymptotic stable it is also

uniformly asymptotic stable. In addition, if we apply fractional order model on the system (6.36) by using Caputo derivative, we get [60]

$${}^{C}_{t_{0}}D^{\rho}_{t}x(t) = \Lambda - \frac{\sigma xy}{x+y} - \beta x + \delta y,$$

$${}^{C}_{t_{0}}D^{\rho}_{t}y(t) = \frac{\sigma xy}{x+y} - (\alpha + \beta + \delta)y.$$
(6.38)

With the same equilibrium points found in (6.36), to achieve the uniformly asymptotically stable of the endemic equilibrium (x^*, y^*) , first we suppose Lyapunov function $L = \{(x, y) \in \Omega : x > 0, y > 0\} \rightarrow R$ and define as [60]

$$L(x, y) = \left[x + y - (x^* + y^*) - (x^* + y^*) \ln \frac{(x + y)}{x^* + y^*} \right]$$
$$+ \frac{(\alpha + 2\beta)(x^* + y^*)}{\sigma y^*} \left(y - y^* - y^* \ln \frac{y}{y^*} \right).$$

If L(x, y) is positive definite, continuous function for all x > 0, y > 0, since (x^*, y^*) is an endemic equilibrium point of (6.38), then [60]

$$\Lambda = \beta(x^* + y^*) + \alpha y^*, \quad (\alpha + \beta + \delta) = \frac{\sigma x^*}{x^* + y^*}.$$
(6.39)

Using Lemma 5, we get

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\rho} L(x, y) \leq \left[1 - \frac{(x^* + y^*)}{x + y} \right]_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\rho} (x + y) + \frac{(\alpha + 2\beta)(x^* + y^*)}{\sigma y} \left(1 - \frac{y^*}{y} \right)_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\rho} y \,, \\ & \leq \frac{\left[(x - x^*) + (y - y^*) \right]}{x + y} \left(\Lambda - \beta (x + y) - \alpha y \right) + \frac{(\alpha + 2\beta)(x^* + y^*)}{\sigma y} \frac{(y - y^*)}{y} \\ & \left(\sigma \frac{xy}{x + y} - (\delta + \beta + \alpha) y \right). \end{split}$$

Now, we use (6.39) and we conclude

$$\sum_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\rho} L(x, y) \leq \frac{\left[(x - x^*) + (y - y^*) \right]}{x + y} \left(-\beta (x - x^*) - (\alpha + \beta)(y - y^*) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{(\alpha + 2\beta)(x^* + y^*)}{y^*} \quad (y - y^*) \left(\frac{x}{x + y} - \frac{x^*}{x^* + y^*} \right).$$

Then, we have

$${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\rho} L(x, y) \le \frac{\left[(x - x^*) + (y - y^*) \right]}{x + y} \Big(-\beta (x - x^*) - (\alpha + \beta) (y - y^*) \Big)$$

$$+\frac{(\alpha+2\beta)(x^{*}+y^{*})}{y^{*}}(y-y^{*})\left(\frac{y^{*}(x-x^{*})-x^{*}(y-y^{*})}{(x^{*}+y^{*})(x+y)}\right),$$

$$\leq -\beta\frac{(x+x^{*})^{2}}{x+y}-\left(\alpha+\beta+(\alpha+2\beta)\frac{x^{*}}{y^{*}}\right)\frac{(y+y^{*})^{2}}{x+y}.$$

We know that ${}_{t_0}^{C} D_t^{\rho} L(x, y)$ is a *negative definite* if $\rho \in (0,1)$ (by theorem 5 in chapter 5), then, the system (6.38) is uniform asymptotic stable inside of Ω , with the coordinates in (6.37) [60].

CHAPTER 7

CONCLUSION

In this thesis we have presented the concept of Lyapunov stability theory and some of its applications in a detailed overview.

At the beginning of the thesis we recall some preliminaries and definitions that were useful for the context of the study. After that we have defined the Lyapunov function, methods and theorems to determine the stability properties of the dynamical systems. In the example of pendulum, we have seen that the origin is stable, but not asymptotic stable. In this case we have applied the Lasalle's invariance principle to prove the asymptotic stability. In the indirect method we have showed that the local stability of a system is studied through the Jacobian matrix. If the real parts of its eigenvalues are all strictly negative, the equilibrium point, then, is locally stable, but if at least one is strictly positive, then, it is unstable. The next topic was about a review of the Lyapunov stability for discrete time systems. Also to review the Lyapunov fractional stability, we have presented the stability analysis in the Caputo and Riemann-Liouville senses. We have reviewed Bihari's and Bellman-Grönwall's inequality, Mittag-Leffler stability and Lyapunov-Krasovskii theorem with time delay.

Finally, we have presented some applications of Lyapunov stability theory. In the first application we have recalled a new Lemma that helps to satisfy the stability of fractional derivatives by quadratic Lyapunov functions in the sense of Caputo when $0 < \sigma < 1$. In the second one a class of fractional order gene regulatory networks has reviewed. Some criteria of the Mittag–Leffler stability and generalized Mittag–Leffler stability have been shown by utilising the fractional Lyapunov method for these networks. In the third application, the stabilization problem for continuous-time fractional linear systems with the additional condition of non negativity of the states has been discussed. Finally, the Volterra-type Lyapunov functions has been used to prove the stability of equilibrium points in integral order epidemic systems, to estimate the uniform asymptotic stability of the Caputo-type epidemic systems.

I hope that my thesis can be considered as a review about the Lyapunov function and some of its applications, will help the young researchers in their studies about the fascinating area of stability of the dynamics of complex systems.

REFERENCES

- 1. **Debeljkovic D. L. J., Buzurovic I. M.**, (2011), "Lyapunov Stability of Linear Continuous Singular", International Journal of Information and Systems Sciences, vol. 7, pp. 247-260.
- Luciano M. L., Eduardo N. V., Samuel I. N., (2014) "On the Construction of Regions of Stability", Pure and Applied Mathematics Journal, vol.3, pp. 87-91.
- 3. Polderman, J. W., Willems J. C., (1998), "Introduction to the Mathematical Theory of Systems and Contror.", p. 247-268.
- 4. **Mawhin J.**, (2015), "Alexandr Mikhailovich Liapunov, the General Problem of the Stability of Motion (1892)", International Journal Vol. 1, pp. 1-17.
- 5. Mitropolskii Y. A., Borne P., Martynyuk A. A., (2007), "Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, Personage in Science: Alexandr Mikhailovich Liapunov ", Informath Publishing Group vol. 7, pp. 113-120.
- 6. **Hedrih, S. K., (2007),** *"Nonlinear Dynamics and Aleksandr Mikhailovich Lyapunov (1857-1918)"*, Mechanics, Automatic Control and Robotics, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 211-218.
- 7. **Pukdeboon C., (2011),**" A Review of Fundamentals of Lyapunov Theory", the Journal of Applied Science, vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 55-60.
- 8. Khalil H. K., (2002), "Nonlinear Systems", (Third Edition), Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, p. 111-160.
- 9. Horacio J. M., (2003), "Nonlinear Control System Analysis and Design", John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, p. 65-133.
- 10. Haddad W. M., Chellaboina V., (2008), "Nonlinear Dynamical Systems and Control", Princeton University Press, New Jersey, p. 135-180.
- 11. Alligood K. T., Sauer T. D., Yorke J. A., (1996), "Chaos: An Introduction to Dynamical System", Springer-Verlag, New York, p. 304-315.
- 12. Chen G., (2004), "Stability of Nonlinear Systems", Wiley, New York, pp. 4881-4896.

- 13. Almog J., (2009), M.Sc. Thesis, "Stability Analysis of Dynamic Nonlinear Systems by Means of Lyapunov Matrix-Valued Functions", University of the Witwatersand, Johannesburg, pp. 27-59.
- 14. Ahmad N. S., (2012), Ph.D. Thesis, "Convex Methods for Discrete-Time Constrained Control", University of Manchester, Faculty Engineering and Physical Sciences, pp. 32-37
- 15. Vidyasagar M., (1993), "Nonlinear System Analysis", (Second Edition), Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, p. 135-268.
- 16. **Orie B.O.**, (2014), "Construction of Lyapunov Functions for Some Fourth Order Nonlinear Ordinary Differential Equations by Method of Integration", International Journal of Scientific and Technology, vol. 3, pp. 275-285.
- 17. **Dzielinski A., (2005),** "Stability of Class of Adaptive Nonlinear Systems", International Journal of Applied Mathematics and Science, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 455-462.
- 18. Slotine J. J. E., (1991), "Applied Nonlinear Control", Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall, vol. 199, no. 1, pp. 76-122.
- 19. Pitarch J. L., (2013), Ph.D. Thesis, "Contributions to Fuzzy Polynomial Techniques for Stability Analysis and Control", Universitat Politècnica de València, Spain, pp.15-22.
- 20. Floor A., (2000), "LaSalle's Invariance Principle on Measure Chains", Honors Projects, Illinois Weleyan University, pp. 7-49.
- 21. Boyd S., El-Ghaoui L., Feron E., Balakrishnan V., (1994), "Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory", Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, vol.15, pp. 20-60.
- 22. **Murray J. D.**, (2000), "*Mathematical Biology: I. An Introduction*", (Third Edition), Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics, vol. 17 p.80-100.
- 23. Sanchez D. A., (1968), "Ordinary Differential Equations and Stability Theory: An Introduction", General Publishing Company, U. S., pp. 10-12.
- 24. Llibre J., Teruel A. E., (2014), "Introduction to the Qualitative Theory of Differential Systems: Planar Symmetric and Continuous Piecewise Linear Systems", Springer, New York p. 19-59.
- 25. Ahmadi A. A., (2008), M.Sc. Thesis "Non-Monotonic Lyapunov Functions for Stability of Nonlinear and Switched Systems: Theory and Computation", University of Maryland, pp.13-35.
- 26. Nersesov S. G., Haddad W. M., (2006), "On the Stability and Control of Nonlinear Dynamical Systems Via Vector Lyapunov Functions", IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol.51, no. 2, pp. 203-215.

- 27. Sastry Sh., (1999), "Nonlinear Systems Analysis, Stability, and Control", Springer, vol. 10, p.182-214.
- 28. Khalil H. K., (1996), "Nonlinear Systems" (Second Edition), prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, p. 97-148.
- 29. Min W., Yong H., Jin-Hua S., (2010)," Stability Analysis and Robust Control of Time-Delay Systems ", Springer, Spain, p. 19-179.
- 30. Bohuer M., Martynyuk A. A., (2007), "Elements of Stability Theory of A. M. Liapunov for Dynamic Equations on Time Scales ", Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory Information Publishing Group, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 225-251.
- 31. James G., Rumchev V., (2005), "Stability of Positive Linear Discrete-Time Systems", Bulletin of the Polish Academy of Sciences Technical Sciences, vol. 53, pp. 1-8.
- 32. Stojanovic S. B., Debeljkovic D. L., (2011), "Further Results on the Stability Analysis for Linear Discrete Time-Delay Systems: Lyapunov–Algebraic Approach", Belgrade, Serbia, vol. 20, pp. 79-86.
- 33. **Rantzerv A., (2001),** "A Dual to Lyapunov's Stability Theorem", Systems and Control Letters, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 161-168.
- 34. **Ivo P., (2009),** "Stability of Fractional-Order Systems with Rational Order: A survey", An International Journal for Theory and Applications, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 270-283.
- 35. Fengrong Z., Changpin L., (2011), "Stability Analysis of Fractional Differential Systems with Order Lying in (1,2)", Advances in Difference Equations, vol. 2011, pp. 1-10
- Yan L., YangQuan C., Igor P., Yongcan C., (2009), "Mittag-Leffler Stability of Fractional Order Nonlinear Dynamic Systems", Automatica, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 1965-1968.
- 37. Mihailo L., (2011), "Stability and Stabilization of Fractional Order Time Delay Systems", Scientific Technical Review, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 31-37.
- 38. Li Y., Chen Y., Podlubny I., (2010), "Stability of Fractional-Order Nonlinear Dynamic Systems: Lyapunov Direct Method and Generalized Mittag-Leffler Stability", Computers and Mathematics with Applications, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 1810-1820.
- 39. Cuimei J., Shutang L., Da W., (2015), "Generalized Combination Complex Synchronization for Fractional-Order Chaotic Complex Systems", Journal Entropy, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 5200-5215

- Baranowski J., Zagorowska M., Bawer W., Dziwinski T., Piatek P., (2015), "Applications of Direct Lyapunov Method in Caputo Non-Integer Order Systems", Elektronika Ir Elektrotechnica, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 10-13
- 41. Aguila-Camacho N., Duarte-Mermoud M., Gallegos J. A., (2014), "Lyapunov Functions for Fractional Order Systems", Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 19, no. 9, pp. 2952-2955.
- Baleanu D., Ranjbar A., Sadatir S. J., Delavari H., Abdeljawad T., Gejji V., (2011), "Lyapunov-Krasovskii Stability Theorem for Fractional Systems with Delay", Romanian Journal of Physics., vol. 56, no 5-6, pp. 636-642.
- 43. Delavari H., Baleanu D., Sadati J., (2011), "Stability Analysis of Caputo Fractional–Order Nonlinear Systems Revisited", Springer, Nonlinear Dynamics, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 2434-2439.
- 44. Lazarevic M., (2014), "Advanced Topics on Applications of Fractional Calculus on Control Problems, Systems Stability and Modeling", WSEAS Press, World Scientific and Engineering Academy and Society, p. 10-80.
- 45. Pachpatte B. G., (2005), "On Generalizations of Bihari's Inequality", Soochow Journal of Mathematics, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 261-264.
- 46. Jarad F., Abdeljawad Th., Baleanu D., Biçen K., (2012), "On the Stability of Some Discrete Fractional Nonautonomous Systems", Abstract and Applied Analysis, vol. 2012, pp. 1-4.
- 47. Jarad F., Abdeljawad Th., Gundogdu E., Baleanu D., (2001),"On the Mittag-Leffler Stability of Q-Fractional Nonlinear Dynamical Systems", Proceedings of the Romania Academy, Series A, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 1-5.
- 48. **Podlubny I., (1999),** "Fractional Differential Equations", Academic Press, vol. 198, p. 40-100.
- 49. Kilbas A. A., Srivastava H. M., Trujillo J. J., (2006), "Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations", Elsevier, vol. 204, p. 40-48.
- 50. Sung K. C., Bowon K., Namjip K., (2014); "Stability for Caputo Fractional Differential Systems", Abstract and Applied Analysis, vol. 2014, pp. 1-6.
- 51. Yakar C., Çiçek M., Gucen M. B., (2011), "Boundedness and Lagrange Stability of Fractional Order Perturbed Systems Related to Unperturbed Systems with Initial Time Difference in Caputo's Sense", Advances in Difference Equations, vol. 2011, no. 1 pp. 2-13.
- 52. Briat C., (2015), " Linear parameter-Varying and Time-Delay Systems: Analysis, Observation, Filtering and Control", Springer, vol. 3, p. 160-172.

- 53. Liu K. W., Jiang W., (2013), "Uniform Stability of Fractional Neutral Systems: A Lyapunov-Krasovskii Functional Approach", Advances in Difference Equations, pp. 1-9.
- 54. Stojanovic S. B., Debelkovic D. Lh., Mladennovic I., (2007), "A Lyapunov-Krasovskii Methodology for Asymptotic Stability of Discrete Time Delay Systems", Serbian Journal of Electrical Engineering, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 110-114.
- Fioravanti A., (2011), Ph.D. Thesis, "H_∞Analysis and Control of Time-Delay Systems by Methods in Frequency Domain ", Paris University, pp. 13-40.
- Kharitonov V. L., Zhabko A. P., (2003)," Lyapunov –Krasovskii Approach to the Robust Stability Analysis of Time-Delay Systems", Automatica, vol. 39, pp. 15-20.
- 57. Fridman E., (2001), "New Lyapunov-Krasovskii Functionals for Stability of Linear Retarded and Neutral Type Systems", Systems and Control Letters, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 309-318.
- 58. Ren F., Cao F., Cao J., (2015), "Mittag-Leffler Stability and Generalized Mittag-Leffler Stability of Fractional-Order Gene Regulatory Networks", Neurocomputing, vol. 160, pp. 185-188.
- Benzaouia A., Hmamed A., Mesquine F., Benhayoun M., Tadeo F., (2014), "Stabilization of Continuous-Time Fractional Positive Systems by Using a Lyapunov Function", Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions, vol. 59, no. 8, pp. 2203-2206.
- 60. Vargas-De-Leon C., (2015), "Volterra-type Lyapunov Functions for Fractional- Order Epidemic Systems", Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation vol. 24, no.1-3, pp. 75-79.
- 61. **Zhang S., Yu Y., Hu W., (2014)**, "Robust Stability Analysis of Fractional-Order Hopfield Neural Networks with Parameter Uncertainties", Mathematical Problems in Engineering, vol. 2014, pp. 1-4.
- 62. Wu R., Hei X., (2014), "Algebraic Stability of Impulsive Fractional-Order Systems", Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations, vol. 32, no. 1-13, pp. 2-7.
- 63. Qian D., Li C., Agarwal R. P., Wong P. J., (2010), "Stability Analysis of *Fractional Differential System with Riemann-Lioville Derivative*", Mathematical and Computer Modeling, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 864-872.
- 64. Wang Y., Li T., (2014), "Stability Analysis of Fractional-Order Nonlinear Systems with Delay", Mathematical Problems in Engineering, vol. 2014, pp. 2-5.

- 65. Chen J., Zeng Z., Jing P., (2014), "Global Mittag-Leffler Stability and Synchronization of Memristor-Based Fractional-Order Neural Networks", Neural Networks, vol. 51, pp. 1-8.
- 66. Önder M. E. F. E., (2010), "Fractional Order Sliding Mode Control with Reaching Low Approach", Turkish Journal of Electrical Engineering and Computer Sciences, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 732-734.
- 67. Miller K. S., Samko S. G., (2001), "Completely Monotonic Functions", Integral Transforms and Special Functions, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 2-9.
- 68. Wu R., Feckan M., (2015), "Stability Analysis of Impulsive Fractional-Order Systems by Vector Comparison Principle", Nonlinear Dynamics, Springer, vol. 82, no. 4, pp. 2007-2019.
- 69. Zhou X. F., Hu L. G., Liu S., Jiang W., (2014), "Stability Criterion of Class of Nonlinear Fractional Differential Systems", Applied Mathematics Letters, vol. 28, pp. 26-28.
- Li T., Wang Y., (2014), "Stability of a Class of Fractional-Order Nonlinear Systems", Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society, Article ID 724270, vol. 2014, pp. 3-11.

APPENDICES

CURRICULUM VITAE

PERSONAL INFORMATION

Surname, Name: Bagelany, Ronak Mohammed Saeed Ismael Date and Place of Birth: 15 December 1970, Iraq-Kirkuk Marital Status: Single Phone: +9647705105182 Email: saeed.runak@yahoo.com



EDUCATION

Degree	Institution	Year of Graduation	
M.Sc.	Çankaya University,	2015	
	Mathematics and Computer Science		
B.Sc.	University of Technology-Baghdad	1993	
High School	Al-Yakhza School	1989	

WORK EXPERIENCE

Year	Place	Enrollment
1993-2003	Tikrit University	Employee
2003-present	Kirkuk University	 Responsible of secret pen in the Office of President of Kirkuk University. Responsible of the Secretariat of the Council of Kirkuk University.

FOREIN LANGUAGES

Arabic, English, Turkish

T.C YÜKSEKÖĞRETİM KURULU ULUSAL TEZ MERKEZİ

TEZ VERİ GİRİŞİ VE YAYIMLAMA İZİN FORMU

Referans No	10097141
Yazar Adı / Soyadı	RONAK MOHAMMED SAEED BAGELANY
Uyruğu / T.C.Kimlik No	IRAK / 0
Telefon	5347846645
E-Posta	saeed.runak@yahoo.com
Tezin Dili	İngilizce
Tezin Özgün Adı	LYAPUNOV STABILITY THEORY WITH SOME APPLICATIONS
Tezin Tercümesi	BAZI UYGULAMALARIYLA LYAPUNOV KARARLILIK TEORİSİ
Konu	Matematik = Mathematics
Üniversite	Çankaya Üniversitesi
Enstitü / Hastane	Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü
Anabilim Dalı	
Bilim Dalı	
Tez Türü	Yüksek Lisans
Yılı	2015
Sayfa	64
Tez Danışmanları	Assist. Prof. Dr. DUMİTRU BALEANU 99619087526
Dizin Terimleri	
Önerilen Dizin Terimleri	
Kısıtlama	Yok

Yukarıda bilgileri kayıtlı olan tezimin, bilimsel araştırma hizmetine sunulması amacı ile Yükseköğretim Kurulu Ulusal Tez Merkezi Veri Tabanında arşivlenmesine ve internet üzerinden tam metin erişime açılmasına izin veriyorum.

31.12.2015

İmza: